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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.* (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:— (1) the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been
arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Results 348

2008

ZBE\E

RMB’000

IN: 4

Turnover WA 1,309,354

Profit from operations Ky 143,963

Profit before taxation BRBRTAR 181,803

Profit for the year RER R 156,445

Attributable to: RER

Equity shareholders of FRERE

the Company 156,107

Minority interests DERE 338

For the year ended 31 December

BE+TZA=T-HLER
2007 2006 2005 2004
I 3 ZELRE —ZTTF “ZIEE
RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETTL AREFTT AREFTT
1,662,976 786,435 660,421 568,734
292,565 58,662 113,986 118,479
266,604 78,823 82,806 97,027
235,153 70,234 76,676 91,667
213,874 69,673 75,928 91,587
21,279 561 748 80

Basic eamings per share * SREABF*  RMBARW®0.037T RMBAR0.05270 RVBARE0.0187T RMBARH0.0207T RMB AR 0.0267T

As if the subdivision of every Domestic Share and H Share
with a nominal or face value of RMB1.00 in the share
capital of the Company into ten Domestic Shares and ten
H Shares with a nominal value or face value of RMB0.10
each and the capitalisation issue to the shareholders on
the basis of six (6) capitalisation shares for every five (5)
shares in issue had been effective throughout the periods
presented.
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Assets and Liabilities

Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders
of the Company
Minority interests

Total Equity Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the Company
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2008
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RMB’000
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BfEEE 1,099,540
RRERE 1,125,324
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| am pleased to submit to the shareholders the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
known as the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
December 2008.

Annual Results and Review

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately
RMB1,309,354,000 for the year ended 31 December
2008, representing a decrease of approximately 21%
over the previous year; profit attributable to equity
shareholders was approximately RMB156,107,000,
and basic earnings per share was approximately
RMBO0.037.

As over 90% of the products in the apple juice
concentrate industry was for export purpose, the
impact on the apple juice concentrate industry from
the global financial crisis was comparatively greater.
Exported products of the whole industry for 2008 only
amounted to 692,900 tonnes, representing a decrease
of 33.55% as compared with 2007. The price of
products once dropped to approaching the historical
low as the whole industry was in recession. Affected
by the recession in the industry, sales volume and
selling price of the Group’s products had also gradually
decreased in the second half of 2008.

Under the trend of steady appreciation of Renminbi
against US dollar, the Group has enhanced its
cooperation with international renowned financial
institutions to appropriately adjust the proportion
between Renminbi and US dollar loans. The Directors
believe that maintaining an appropriate proportion of
US dollar loans can reduce the Group’s exchange
rate risk and finance costs, and can facilitate better
business development. To uplift the juice production
capacity, the Group has built a new production line
at both Xianyang Andre Juice Co., Ltd.* (Ff5%1=
MRBETAEMR AT (“Xianyang Andre”) and Xuzhou
Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*(#RMNELEFREABRAE])
(“Xuzhou Andre”) and renovated a production line at
the Group’s headquarters in Yantai as planned so
as to expand its production capacity. In addition, the
Group has adopted the methods of acquisition and

* For identification purpose only
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takeover and had acquired 49% equity interest in
Binzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.* GBI ZfERIR gkt
AR AR (“Binzhou Andre”), which became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. The Group thereby
has 14 modernised juice production lines with annual
production capacity exceeding approximately 310,000
tonnes (including controlled and jointly controlled
entities). On construction of production lines for fruit
pulp, the Group had built a new production line for
fruit pulp with an annual capacity of 10,000 tonnes
at the Yantai production base as planned and had
commenced trial production. On pectin production, in
2008, the pectin production plant in Yantai imported
citrus peel from South America and produced quality
citrus pectin as the Company became one of a few
manufacturers which can produce both apple pectin
and citrus pectin in the world. For the variety of
products, the pectin plant had successfully developed
14 new products, including eight pectin products,
three compound collid new products, two high-end
pectin health products and one apple polyphenol
health product. For research and development,
the achievements included: four applied patents,
formalisation of three corporate standards, two
technology achievements and had successfully passed
the inspection of “development and industrialisation
demonstration of apple pectin products and apple juice
of prime quality” from National Science and Technology
Support Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan”. In
addition, the Group had strengthened the cooperation
with international renowned enterprises. The Group
completed the disposal of 50% equity interest in Yongji
Andre Juice Co., Ltd.* GKELEFRETHRAR])
(“Yongji Andre”) to AGRANA Juice GmbH (“AGRANA”"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of AGRANA AG. The
Directors are of the view that with the experience
of AGRANA in the fruit preparations and fruit juice
concentrates sectors, the further strategic alliance with
AGRANA in Yongji Andre, in addition to its strategic
alliance with the Group in Xianyang Andre, will provide
more opportunities to the Company to further develop
its markets and distribution channels in Europe as well
as in other international markets, thereby enhancing the
market share and sales volume of the Company.

* For identification purpose only
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Analysis of Industry and Our Market
Share

The amount of apple juice concentrate exported from
the PRC was approximately 692,900 tonnes in 2008,
representing a significant decrease of 33.55% as
compared to 1,042,700 tonnes in 2007. The apple
juice concentrate industry of the PRC has only begun
mass production in the late 90’s of last century.
However, as there is an abundant supply of apples
in the PRC, the industry grew at a tremendous rate,
and has claimed a world market share of over 50%
within just a decade. In 2008, the global financial crisis
had led the juice concentrate industry, which relied
on export, into recession. Being a leader in the apple
juice concentrate industry of the PRC, the Company
reduced the export volume in time and increased the
level of inventory under the leadership of the Group
when the whole industry was in recession so as to
seize the best opportunity in history and gradually
expand the market share of our products, secure our
leading position in the industry and seek more rapid
and better development for the Company.

Prospect and Outlook

Although the juice concentrate industry is in recession,
the proportion of apple juice concentrate in the daily
consumption beverage market will gradually increase
as the price of apple juice concentrate is far lower than
other juice concentrate. With the gradual consumption
of the apple juice concentrate inventory in Europe and
the US, the export volume will gradually increase or
even significantly increase and the export price will
also return to normal level. In addition, with the gradual
implementation of specific measures inclining to the
agricultural industry under the PRC government’s
macroeconomic policies and the gradual improvement
of various related PRC laws and regulations, the
Group will enjoy better development and financing
opportunities. Aiming at enlarging its business scale,
the Group will strive to further enlarge its market,
enhance productivity, diversify products, expand sales,
disperse markets and to develop financing channels,
etc.
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For juice production capacity, volatility in the industry
will force certain small and medium enterprises in the
PRC to bow out of the market. Moderate reshuffle FE RETENBRIRE - AEEBEEZRNE
in the industry will be beneficial for the increase AINRFTHER RN - IR ESEREETF
in concentration of the industry and improve the B I REAEETEERBRRETNEER
competitive environment in the industry. The Group BRERNEERITEANRBEERLL o

will continue to target small and medium enterprises in

the industry, domestic or abroad, to further increase

the Group’s annual production capacity for juice

concentrate through capital activities such as merger

and acquisition, and to strengthen its leading position in

the industry.

Volume of Apple Juice Concentrate Exported from the PRC (tonnes) and our Market Share
FERERRTHOE (AM) RAATMEHEHE
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M st

Source: Custom General Administration of the PRC and United States Department of Agriculture
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For fruit pulp production capacity, to meet the
increasing demand for fruit pulp in the international
market, the Group has built new production line for
fruit pulp at the right time to enhance the production
capacity of fruit pulp, so as to turn fruit pulp into
another major product of the Group.

For pectin production capacity, in face of the shortage
of supply in pectin products in the PRC, the Group is
planning to complete the construction of the second
pectin production line as soon as possible on the basis
of the successful mass production of the current pectin
production line, to lift the production capacity of pectin
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12 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

to 4,000 tonnes, with a view to construct the pectin
plant into a HM, LMC and LMA all series production
base covering a complete pectin product combination
of apple pectin, citrus pectin and compound collid
of apple pectin and citrus pectin. In addition, pectin
derivative is a nutritional supplement based on pectin
developed by the Company for health-conscious
people adapting to modern living, which is a major
health product developed by the pectin company.
Through the efforts made in 2007 and 2008, pectin
derivative is fully ready for launching to the market. The
Group will strive to achieve a major breakthrough in
product sales in the three markets of retails, network
sales and special group orders in the PRC.

For product diversification, by leveraging on the
existing finished products, the pectin company will
achieve the construction of a High Methoxyl Pectin
(HM), Low Methoxyl Pectin (LMC) and Amidated Low
Methoxyl pectin (LMA) all series production base
covering a complete pectin product combination of
apple pectin, citrus pectin and compound collid of
apple pectin and citrus pectin. We will also strengthen
the development of dairy stabilisers and high-end
pectin health products and their markets and strive
to become a basket supplier of international standard
dairy stabilisers and professional supplier of high-end
pectin health products, so as to increase the potential
value of the Company. In addition, the Group will also
develop the technology in extracting high concentration
of apple flavonoid from apple dreg and develop high
value-added products, so as to further enhance the
technology level of the Company.

At present, the Company has a sound financial
base. The Company is also well positioned under the
State’s policy to construct new rural area, develop
agriculture, flourish the rural area, enrich farmers and
expand domestic demand. The Board of the Company
(the “Board”) and | have full confidence in its future
development. Our employees will continue to support
the Group and to contribute to the Group’s continuous
and steady development.
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Dividend

The Board proposes a final dividend of approximately
RMBO0.007 per share for the financial year 2008 in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Appreciation

During the reporting period, as affected by the global
financial crisis, the whole industry was in recession. The
sales volume and selling price of Group were greatly
affected. However, the Directors strongly believe as
volatility in the industry will force certain small and
medium enterprises in the PRC to bow out of the
market and with gradual recovery of the whole industry,
the Company will have greater opportunities for
development in 2009. On behalf of the Board, | would
like to express my gratitude to all the investors, loyal
customers and suppliers for their appreciation and solid
support to the Group.

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Zheng Yue Wen

Chairman

26 March 2009

* For identification purpose only
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Financial Review

Results

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Group’s turnover decreased to approximately
RMB1,309,354,000 as compared to approximately
RMB1,662,976,000 in 2007, representing a significant
decrease of approximately RMB353,622,000 or 21%.
The Group’s turnover was principally derived from
the manufacture and sale of apple juice concentrate,
pear juice concentrate, apple essence, feedstuff and
related products. The sale of apple juice concentrate
accounted for approximately 91% of the total turnover
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008
(2007: approximately 97%). The decrease in turnover
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales volume
and selling price of apple juice concentrate. The
decrease in sales volume and selling juice is mainly
caused by the worldwide economic crisis, which
resulted in the drop of overall consumption of apple
juice.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group’s
gross profit was approximately RMB242,910,000 and
the gross profit margin was approximately 19%. For
the corresponding period in 2007, the gross profit
was approximately RMB427,395,000 and gross profit
margin was approximately 26%. The decrease in
gross profit and the gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to the high cost of sales due to the cost
of sale in the new pressing season in 2008 included a
significant amount of high cost products manufactured
in the pressing season in 2007 and the write-down of
inventory of approximately RMB53,097,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group’s
net profit (i.e. the profit for the year attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company) decreased to
approximately RMB156,107,000 as compared to
approximately RMB213,874,000 for the corresponding
period in 2007, representing a significant decrease of
approximately RMB57,767,000 or 27%. The significant
decrease in net profit was mainly attributable to the
decrease in sales volume and selling price of the
Group’s products.

Distribution Costs and Administrative Expenses

December 2008, the
Group incurred distribution costs of approximately
RMBG67,281,000, as compared to approximately
RMB106,834,000 in 2007, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB39,553,000. The Group’s
distribution costs mainly included transport, export
inspection and marketing expenses. Such decrease

For the year ended 31

was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales
volume.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
incurred administrative expenses of approximately
RMB46,023,000 as compared to approximately
RMB38,860,000 in 2007, representing an increase
of approximately RMB7,163,000. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the commencement of operation
of a new factory in Yongji in the second half of 2007,
the completion of acquisition of 51% of Binzhou Andre
in June 2007 and the completion of acquisition of 70%
of Qingdao Nannan Beverage Co., Ltd* (& & mm gk}
ARRAR])(“Qingdao Nannan”) in March 2008 which
led to an increase in general administrative expenses in
2008.

* For identification purpose only

HE-_ZZN\E+-_A=1+—HLEE £X£H
FHEBIARFTRREERFEEN)NAEAR
#156,107,0007T - BT L FREBAHAARE
213,874,000 70ABLE - A AREES7,767,0007T3k
27% - FRHERL>ETERHNHEHERHEEBRT
P& S| ERY ©

HEREEER
HEZZETZ)\F+ZA=+—HLLFE  AEEHE
ERYABARE67,281,0007T c BEZZEZTLFHAR
5 106,834,000 7T A8 LR 2 £ A R 5 39,553,000 7T © AR
SECHEERTZREERER  HORBERHE
EBERA - HEBARLITZRANEESE NEEK
E’\] °

HE_ZZ)\F+_A=+—HILFE  AEEDHE
BERLNAARE 46,023,000 °» B-EELFHA
FR# 38,860,000 sTAALL + #E N4 A K# 7,163,000 7T
EREALAFZERAMNUINKBZTBER=-EZ
HFETEFRE  UER T HF N B TR EEN
ZEFGA%BRENWEAR—SENF=AEXEE
SMMARABERAT ([ ESrMEE]) 70% R EUEERT
BY T \FHEEN—RRITEFA B2 EINATE -

* BT
—ZEZNFFHR Annual Report 2008

15



16 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Net Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the net
finance costs of the Group increased to approximately
RMB43,257,000, as compared to approximately
RMB26,462,000 for the corresponding period in
2007, representing an increase of approximately
RMB16,795,000 or 63%. Such increase was mainly
due to the reduction of currency exchange gain
caused by appreciation of Renminbi resulted from the
exchange rate of Renminbi against US dollar became
more stable.

Investment Income

For the year ended 31 December 2008, investment
income recognised by the Group was approximately
RMB77,151,000. On 30 June 2008, the Group
disposed of 50% equity interest in Yongji Andre to
AGRANA for a total consideration of EUR11,000,000.
The investment income derived from the disposal
amounted to approximately RMB77,151,000,
representing the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the interests
disposed of.

Share of Profit from an Associate

For the year ended 31 December 2008, share of profit
from an associate of the Group was approximately
RMB4,036,000, as compared to approximately
RMB501,000 in 2007, representing an increase of
approximately RMB3,535,000. The increase was due
to the commencement of mass production of the
pectin business in 2008.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the income
tax of the Group was decreased from approximately
RMB31,451,000 in 2007 to approximately
RMB25,448,000. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in profit for the year.

* For identification purpose only
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Business Review and Outlook

Business Review

Cooperation with Financial Institutions

While the appreciation of Renminbi against US dollar
has become more stable, the Group continues to
enhance cooperation with domestic and international
renowned financial institutions to appropriately adjust
the proportion of Renminbi and US dollar in our loan
portfolio. The Directors believe that such appropriate
proportion of US dollar loan can reduce the Group’s
exchange rate risk and finance cost effectively, and
facilitate better business development.

Enhancing Market Coverage

With years of continuous effort, the Group has already
expanded its sales network to major countries and
regions in the world, including the US, Japan, Europe,
Oceania and African countries and PRC market.

Optimisation of Customer Base
While expanding
share, the Group also leveraged on the prime quality
of its products to optimise its profile of customer

its market places and market

base continuously. Currently, the customer base of
the Group mainly comprises renowned beverage
manufacturers of the world.
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18 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Close Cooperation with International Strategic
Investors

On 30 June 2008, the Group disposed of 50% equity
interest in Yongji Andre to AGRANA, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of AGRANA AG. AGRANA AG is one of the
world’s leaders in fruit preparations and Europe’s largest
manufacturer of fruit juice concentrates. The Directors are
of the view that with the experience of AGRANA in the
fruit preparations and fruit juice concentrates sectors, the
further strategic alliance with AGRANA in Yongji Andre, in
addition to its strategic alliance with the Group in Xianyang
Andre will provide more opportunities to the Group to
further develop its markets and distribution channels in
Europe as well as in other interational markets, thereby
enhancing the market share and sales volume of the
Group.

Development of Bases for Apples with High Acidity
The bottleneck that hinders the development of apple
juice enterprises is the uncertainty in the quality and
production quantity of apples, the major raw material.
In view of the intense competition in the low to mid
acidity apple juice concentrate market, the Company
has taken an unique approach and encouraged
peasants to develop bases of apples with high acidity
surrounding the production bases of the Group, which
are now covering a large area. As the Group made an
early start in developing the bases of apples with high
acidity, some of the bases are attaining the capacity
gradually, which guarantees the supply of raw materials
for the Company.

Further Acquisition of Binzhou Andre

On 1 April 2008, the Group purchased from Korea
Jeong Soo Andre Co., Ltd. 49% equity interest in
Binzhou Andre. Binzhou Andre was 51% owned by the
Group before the above transaction and had become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group upon completion
of the acquisition. The Board considers that the above
acquisition represents a good opportunity for the Group
o increase its production capacity and to obtain better
control and management of Binzhou Andre.

* For identification purpose only
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Increasing Juice Production Capacity

The Group has built a new production line at Xianyang
Andre and Xuzhou Andre as planned, and renovated
a production line at the Group’s headquarters in
Yantai so as to expand its production capacity. Upon
completion of such expansion, the Group has owned
14 modern production lines with an aggregate annual
production capacity of over approximately 310,000
tonnes (including controlled and jointly controlled
entities).

Construction of Production Lines for Fruit Pulp

The Group has built a new production line for fruit pulp
with an annual capacity of 10,000 tonnes at the Yantai
production base, and successfully conducted trial
production.

Production of Pectin

The Group had further implemented various aspects
of the production of pectin. In 2008, our Yantai plant
imported orange peels from South America, and
successfully produced high quality citrus pectin,
rendering Yantai Andre Pectin Co., Ltd.* (&L=
FIRBAEMRAR) ("Andre Pectin”) to become one
of the few plants in the world that can produce both
apple pectin and citrus pectin. For new products
development, Andre Pectin successfully conducted
R&D and trial production of Low Methoxyl Pectin
(LMC) and Amidated Low Methoxyl Pectin (LMA),
lifting the technology capability of Andre Pectin further.
In addition, Andre Pectin, in cooperation with China
Huiyuan Juice Group Limited, established an orange
peel processing center in Huaihua, Hunan which
provides Andre Pectin with an adequate supply of raw
material for citrus pectin production.

* For identification purpose only
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20 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Traceability and Farm Management Improvement
Linkages Project

To enhance competitiveness, the Company has
been forward-looking by entering into a Linkages
Cooperation Agreement with IFC for the joint
development of traceable, farm management
improvement linkages project in the PRC. During 2008,
the five trial villages in Yantai have again successfully
passed the GLOBALGAP recognition system. In
addition, after on-site survey and assessment, the
Company has selected three trial villages in Xianyang,
Shaanxi, laying a solid foundation for promoting the
GLOBALGAP recognition on a large scale.

Research and Development

The Group, acting as the main bidder and together
with  China Agricultural University, the Chinese
Academy of Inspection and Quarantine of the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and
Quarantine of China, etc, have undertaken research
project under the National Science and Technology
Support Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan” on
the topic of “the development and industrialisation
demonstration of apple pectin products and apple juice
of prime quality”. The Group continued undertaking
of the Shandong Province proprietary and innovative
key technology project of 2006, the “Key Technology
for Fine and Deep Processing of Fruits”. The Group
also continued undertaking of the “Research and
Development of Key Technology and Equipment for
Apple Processing”, the Shandong Province technology
research program project of 2008; and the “Double
Ten” proprietary and innovative key technology project
of Yantai City of 2008; and implemented research
works.
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Our achievements included:

For juice:

The projects we undertaken under the “11th Five-
Year Plan” have been successfully accepted.

Preliminary results were achieved in the
processing technology of unripe and high acidity
apples, and pilot test was completed; small-
scaled test was also completed on the separation
technologies of ultrafilter residues.

A result identification has been passed at
provincial level.

The aseptic storage of large tank group under
low temperature and storage tank design and
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control technology for apple concentrates.

For pectin:

The research project under the National Science
and Technology Support Program of the “11th Five-
Year Plan” on the topic of “the development and
industrialisation demonstration of apple pectin products
and apple juice of prime quality” has successfully
passed acceptance.
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The Company developed 14 new products, including 8

pectin products (see table 1).

Table 1 Eight New Pectin Products

Number — Type Name

1 AP188 HM Ultra rapid set pectin

2 AP104B  HM Slow set pectin for confectionary
3 AP165B  HM Slow set pectin for confectionary
4 AP166B  HM Slow set pectin for confectionary
5 AP300 LMC Very High Calcium reactivity

6 AP310  LMC High Calcium reactivity

7 AP320 LMC Medium Calcium reactivity

8 AP330 LMC Low Calcium reactivity

3 new products of compound collid:
Stabiliser for sterilize milk

Stabiliser for yogurt

Stabiliser for milk beverage

2 high-ended pectin health foods:
“Apple Gold” pectin granules and apple dietary fiber

granules

1 apple polyphenol health food:
Function jelly against decayed teeth

Established 3 enterprise standards:

Food additive stabiliser for milk beverage (Standard no:
Q/YAG 005-2008);

Food additive stabiliser for yogurt (Standard no:

Q/YAG 006-2008);

Food additive stabiliser for sterilise milk (Standard no:
Q/YAG 007-2008);
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4 applications filed for invention patent:

A raw material cleaning method for pectin production
(Patent application no: 200810139769.6)

An extraction technique for non-pectin soluble
apple dreg dietary fiber (Patent application no.:
200810139768.1)

A method for standardising pectin with buffer salt
(Patent application no: 200810139767.7)

A testing method for nitrate in pectin (Patent application
no: 200810139766.2)

2 scientific and technological achievements obtained:

“Supercritical fluid extraction and purification united
molecular distillation preparation of apple seed oil and
other product development” and “Preparation of apple
polyphenol with anti-teeth decay property and other
product development”.

Future Prospects

Develop Financing Channels

The Group will closely monitor the trend of Renminbi
exchange rate against US dollar and adjust the
proportion of Renminbi and US dollar loans. The
Group will continue in actively engaging cooperation
with domestic and international financial institutions to
diversify its financing channels and increase the variety of
financing products, with the aim of reducing the Group’s
exchange rate risk and finance cost, improve capital
structure and facilitate better business development.

Expand Markets

While strengthening its position in the existing markets,
the Group will at the same time focus on market and
product sales diversification. In respect of the overseas
market, apart from strengthening its US market and
the developed European, Oceania, African countries
and Japanese markets, the Group will strive to achieve
further breakthroughs in the domestic sales market.

R | 4TREBAER ¢

(—REREBEENERBRAE) (EFBBEHR:
200810139769.6)

(—TEERBAAEERBERMENIENTE) (FF)
ERF55% © 200810139768.1)

(—TEREFHHEZELCRBO L) (FFHBHR -
200810139767.7)

(—ERBHHEEENAED X)) (N EFIR:
200810139766.2) :

ST 28R AR ¢

(BRAERBAD T RBACREERTENEE
MK EBE BRSO R EERF
)

AREL

AEEKEINRIARBHITEXTNES - UEE
R AEARBMETER ZEOLL G - REE S
BREBIINEBANIZZSREENEIE - AFR
AEENERMERE BNBEME - K EER
R RBEXRAK  REENGERE  BRTERAE
71 - R AR TSR ER o

hETS

AEBEEZBERAMSNEE  SEINEEMSNE
mIFEMZ T - BSNMETE - BT REEXETS
MBS RAMEM - KFM - FENEEMBATS
Sh  REER IR EBRAEETIH T EAEANRE

—EEN\EEH Annual Report 2008 23



EEENWR DM

Accelerate Pace for Acquisition and Merger

The fluctuation of the industry will force some small
and medium enterprises in the PRC out of competition.
The Group will continue in aiming at taking over small
and medium enterprises in the industry, domestic or
abroad, through capital activities such as merger and
acquisition, to further increase the Group’s annual
production capacity for juice concentrate, thereby
strengthening our leading position in the industry.

Further Enhancement of Fruit Pulp Capacity

To meet with the increasing demand for fruit pulp in the
international market, the Group has increased its fruit
pulp production lines at appropriate times to further
enhance the production capacity of fruit pulp, making
fruit pulp another major product of the Group.

Continue Development of Traceability and Farm
Management Improvement Linkages Project

While we are consolidating and strengthening the
GLOBALGAP recognition project at the trial villages
of Yantai, Shandong and Xianyang, Shaanxi, the
Company will convene seminars on GLOBALGAP
technology with IFC, CNCA,
of GLOBALGAP and various major accreditation

technical committee
institutions, through which we will promote
GLOBALGAP recognition and achieve the extensive
implementation and promotion of the project in a way
appropriate to the situations of the PRC, and drive the
development of the whole fruit industry.
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Enhance Pectin Production Capacity

The pectin production equipment of the Group’s
Yantai plant, which has an annual production capacity
of 2,000 tonnes, has successfully commenced mass
production. On the basis of the successful mass
production of the current pectin production line and
to satisfy the increasing domestic demand for our
pectin products, the Group is planning to start the
construction of the second pectin production line as
soon as possible to lift the production capacity of
pectin to 4,000 tonnes, with a view to increasing pectin
production capacity as soon as possible to achieve
economy of scale. Our goal is to develop the pectin
plant into a production base for the comprehensive
series of HM, LMC and LMA as well as a complete
pectin product range including apple pectin, citrus
pectin and the apple pectin and citrus pectin
compound.

Furthermore, pectin derivative products are pectin
based nutrient supplements developed by our entity for
those suffering from sub-health condition as a result of
adapting to modern living. This is the health operation
we have been striving to cultivate. After the effort we
put into this area in 2007 and 2008, such products
are ready for a full-scaled launch in the market. We wiill
seek a significant breakthrough in sales nationwide,
through the three market channels, that is sales point
display, network sales and group purchase from
special populations.

RARBLEERD
AEEURREMENRBEERBCIEFNER TH#H
EAE - FERE2000M - &imEBEAINRERR
BERTHEANTR  AEBELEFEERBLEER
RO EEENER - BRTEXNE _BRRBEER
MELE T - (ERBRSHEERE NED 4,000 - A
BRREFARBOLER  Z2RBRWE - AER
BHE SLZKHM » LMC ~ LMA 2 2513 B Z 38
RRE - HRBRE - ARRBEMBRBELNTE
MRBERESNEERM -

o REBUTEmR AR RERRRLEE 2 TR
BAR - URBAEMHYHABNEEMAR B2
AENBBENRFEESR - RBITEREBRAR-F
Tt —ETN\EFENEH AEKABRZEKRATS
B - AEEE N FEZBBEA - ERBERT
BREENESRABREBSZ=_EMS L BREME
EHEARRE

—EEN\EEH Annual Report 2008 25



26 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
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Research and Development

For apple juice concentrates, the Group will strive for
the following research and development:

1. Research and development in the production
technology for concentration of essence under
low temperature;

2. Research in the industrialisation technology for
concentrated clear juice processed from various
type of unripe apples;

3. Completion of the pilot research in separation
technologies of ultrafilter residues (without sugar
extraction); and

4. Engage in the later two years’ rolling projects
under the National Science and Technology
Support Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan”.

For pectin, in 2009, Andre Pectin will realise the value
maximisation of its existing pectin production line
and conventional pectin business by establishing a
comprehensive pectin product mix consisting of a
complete series of High Methoxyl Pectin (HM), Low
Methoxyl Pectin (LHM), and Amidated Low Methoxyl
Pectin (LMA) while at the same time covering apple
pectin, citrus pectin, and apple pectin and citrus
pectin compound. We will also increase our effort in
the development of stabilsers for dairy products and
high-end pectin health food and in the development
of their markets. We will strive to become an one-
stop supplier of dairy product stabilisers that comply
with international standard and a specialised supplier
of high-end pectin health food, which will enhance the
potential value of Andre Pectin and advance Andre
Pectin into the era of high value-added and hi-tech,
providing a more extensive scope for the expansion of
our economic scale.

* For identification purpose only
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We will also conduct research in the technology for
the extraction of high purity apple flavonoid from apple
dreg, and develop high value-added products to
elevate the technology content of the Company.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH IFC

On 21 April 2005, the Company entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with IFC for a loan
of US$15,000,000 (approximately HK$117,000,000)
repayable commencing on 15 March 2007 by 10
approximately equal instalments until all monies
payable under the Loan Agreement have been fully
repaid.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Glory Cause Land
Afforestation Co., Ltd.* (AR EHBT4(LEEER
Ad]), being the then controlling shareholder of the
Company, Beiing RAJ Network Sales Co., Ltd.* (4t
FUmERBIEEEREMEAF]), Yantai Donghua Fruit
Co., Ltd* (e REREER A F])and Donghua Fruit
Industry Co., Ltd. have collectively undertaken to IFC
and the Company to retain their legal and beneficial
aggregate ownership of not less than 40% in the issued
share capital of the Company so long as any part of
the principal of or interest on the loan under or any
other sums due under the Loan Agreement remain
outstanding and unpaid. In the event that their legal
and beneficial aggregate ownership falls below the
above aggregate percentage level, the Company shall
be required to repay the principal amount of the loan
from time to time outstanding and the interest thereon
accrued.

* For identification purpose only

ol il

MEARBRM AR ARBREAM - FESHINE
Em - E-PREARFANMKEE -

HIFCZRMihE

R-ZERFMA—+—8  AQRIEIFCEF] AR
15,000,000 Z 75 (47 117,000,000 7T) 2 Exktnz ([ &
Rzl ERH-_TTLF=A+HRBEE H T
HEHEE ZEXMETAEERNZSEX2ER
BlLE e

RERGZE  ARFERZIERARINEEER LA
EEBERAR  tRIMEREHEERETAR
e REREHFR AT K Donghua Fruit Industry Co.,
Ltd. £ EEEIFC RA QAR - AEERBE MEHTE
FHARSHFBMATREERE  ZFERARTAF
ELRAERRBRAZ 0% HEERBERAHITRE -
MZEERARZEEREREHFRELN Ltz
B3k ARBFUAERBERERZERA S RFIE
SF -

CEHREF)

—FEN\EEH Annual Report 2008 27



28 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

EEENWR DM

On 21 March 2006, after the subscription of H shares
by IFC, the Company entered into an Amended and
Restated Agreement to the Loan Agreement (the
“Amended Loan Agreement”) with IFC to amend the
facility to be granted by IFC under the Loan Agreement
from US$15,000,000 to US$8,000,000 and to
make certain other incidental changes to the Loan
Agreement, including the cancellation of all assets
charged by IFC.

The Amended Loan Agreement is signed subject to
the entering into of (a) the Yantai Share Retention
Agreement, pursuant to which each of Glory Cause
Land Afforestation Co., Ltd.*(HFEHB AL EER
BBRAF]), being the then controling shareholder of
the Company, Beijing RAJ Network Sales Co., Ltd.*
(I RImEPEHERRETAR), Yantai Donghua
Fruit Co., Ltd.* (MABRZEREHFRAF])and Donghua
Fruit Industry Co., Ltd. will undertake to maintain an
aggregate interest of no less than 40% in the issued
share capital of the Company; and (b) Donghua Share
Retention Agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Wang An
and Mr. Zhang Hui will agree to maintain the specified
percentage interests in each of Yantai Donghua Fruit
Co., Ltd. *(fABRERZER A F]) and Donghua Fruit
Industry Co., Ltd..

As at the date of this report, both the Yantai Share
Retention Agreement and the Donghua Share
Retention Agreement have not yet been finalised and
the loan of US$8,000,000 under the Amended Loan
Agreement is not yet available to be drawn down.

* For identification purpose only
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Term Facility Agreement with Certain
Financial Institutions

On 2 June 2006, the Company as a borrower entered
into the Term Facility Agreement with certain financial
institutions whereby the lenders have agreed to
make available to the Company a term facility in an
aggregate amount of US$60,000,000 (approximately
HK$468,000,000 upon drawdown).

The terms of the Term Facility Agreement impose
specific performance obligations on the then controlling
shareholders of the Company. Under the Term Facility
Agreement, each of the following will constitute an
event of default upon which the facility will, among
others, become immediately due and payable:

(i) Mr. Wang An does not or ceases to have or is not
or ceases to be entitled to exercise, directly or
through his controlled corporations, management
control over each of the Company and its
material subsidiaries; or

(i) the aggregate shareholding in the Company that
is beneficially owned by Mr. Zheng Yue Wen
and Mr. Wang An, whether directly or through
their respective controlled corporations, is
not or ceases to be larger than the aggregate
shareholding (whether direct or indirect) in the
Company of and/or held to the order of any other
person and/or persons acting in concert with
such other person/persons.

As at 31 December 2008, Mr. Wang An, whether
directly or through his controlled corporations, held
approximately 27.85% of the total issued share capital of
the Company and was the single largest shareholder of
the Company. Mr. Zheng Yue Wen ceased to have any
equity interest in the Company since 27 March 2008.
Mr. Zheng Yue Wen and Mr. Wang An are the executive
Directors of the Company.
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Charge of Assets

As at 31 December 2008, no assets of the Company
was pledged.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had no contingent
liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The operating revenue of the Group is partly
denominated in US dollars.
Group to convert its operating revenue denominated
in US dollars to Renminbi to finance its operating
expenses and capital requirements. However, the
results of operations and the financial position of
the Group may be affected by any changes in the

It is the practice of the

exchange rates.

On the other hand,
denominated balances into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

the conversion of Renminbi

Capital Commitment

For the capital commitment of the Group, please refer
to note 38 to the Financial Statements.

Capital Structure

The shares of the Company were listed in the GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 22 April 2003. The capital of
the Company comprises only ordinary shares. Details
of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
35 to the Financial Statements.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally financed its operations and
investing activities by internally generated financial
resources and loans from banks. As at 31 December
2008, the Group had outstanding short-term bank
loans of approximately RMB856,775,000 and no long-
term bank loan. As at 31 December 2008, the short-
term bank loans of RMB549,218,000 bore interest
at rates ranging from 5.04% to 7.47% per annum.
The bank loans of RMB307,557,000 bore floating
interest rate of LIBOR + 1.1%, with maturity in 2009.
In the year 2008, the Group repaid on time all debts
that were due. The Directors consider that the Group
has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operation requirements.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB114,114,000.
The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2008
was approximately 49% (2007: approximately
62%) which is calculated by dividing the Group’s
total liabilities of approximately RMB1,099,540,000
(2007: RMBH1,759,852,000) by the Group’s total
assets of approximately RMB2,232,414,000 (2007:
RMB2,853,291,000).
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Yue Wen (¥5E237), aged 47, is the chairman
and executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zheng is
a well-known entrepreneur in the PRC. Mr. Zheng is a
member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (CPPCC- 2 BB 1) and is a vice president
of the All-China General Chamber of Industry and
Commerce. In October 1999, Mr. Zheng graduated
from the Asia International Open University (Macau) (52
MEBIBRABIAER GBFY)) with a degree in Master of
Business Administration. He then obtained his PhD.
in Economics from the Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics (ERILEF4EK22) in November 1999. In
December 1999, Mr. Zheng was appointed as a visiting
professor of the Department of Business Administration
at Jiangxi University of Economics (T FAEAAEAEL). He
was a director of Henan Pinggao Electric Company
Limited (A FRESRRHBRAT) from July 1999
to January 2007. Currently, Mr. Zheng is the chairman
of Creat Group Co., Ltd. (Rim&EE AR A R]) and also
a chairman of Lead REITs Asset Management Corp (<&
HEEEERMAERATR]). He joined the Company
in November 2000 and has been involving in the
concentrated juice production industry since then. Mr.
Zheng is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy
formulation, business strategic planning, business
development and overall management of the Group.
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Mr. Wang An (£%), aged 46, is the vice chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer of the
Company. Mr. Wang is a well known entrepreneur
in the PRC, and one of the top ten Outstanding
Youths Entrepreneurs in Shandong Province. Mr.
Wang has been awarded the medal of “Labor Model
of the Nation” and is a representative of Shandong
Province to the National People’s Congress (AR
7). Mr. Wang graduated from the College of Chinese
Communist Party (LR RERKFERT) in June
1994. He was the general manager of Yangma Resort
(BB BEMBA) for four years before joining the Group.
He joined the Company in March 1996 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry
since then. Mr. Wang is responsible for the overall
management of the Group.

Mr. Zhang Hui (555 ), aged 37, is an executive Director
and executive president of the Company. He was the
deputy general manager of Muping Foodstuff Industrial
Company Limited (¥ &m LE AR A7) and Muping
Material (22 #)%& ) before joining the Group. Mr. Zhang
joined the Company in December 1998 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry
since then. Mr. Zhang is an engineer and is responsible
for assisting Mr. Wang An for the overall management
of the Group.
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Mr. Jiang Hong Qi (Z#%7), aged 43, is an executive
Director and financial controller of the Company. Mr.
Jiang holds a Master Degree in Economics majoring in
Accounting. Mr. Jiang is a certified public accountant
in the PRC. He had been both the business manager
and senior manager in Shandong International Trust
and Investment Corporation (ILUE&EEEEFEHRER
A]) before joining the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the
Company in 2002 as a deputy chief accountant. Mr.
Jiang is responsible for the accounting and finance
matters of the Group.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien (Z&%& %), aged 53, is a non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo studied in
the Department of Foreign Language of Tainan Cheng
Kung University, and the Research Institute of Business
Administration of University of California Los Angeles
where he obtained his Master Degree in Business
Administration. Mr. Lo was the Taiwan regional general
manager of De Beers Diamond Promotion Services
before 1986. He was the section chief of Uni-President
Enterprises Corp. between 1986 and 1991 and the
business general manager and the chief operation
officer of a U.S. subsidiary of Uni-President Enterprises
Corp. between 1991 and 1997. Subsequently, he
held positions such as the special assistant to the
chief executive officer of President Enterprises (China)
Investment Co. and senior vice president of Uni-
President Enterprises Corp.. From July 2003 to May
2007, he was the executive vice president of Uni-
President Enterprises Corp.. Since June 2007, he has
been the general manager of Uni-President Enterprises
Corp.. Mr. Lo is also the director of President Chain
Store Corp., Ton Yi Industrial Corp. and Tait Marketing
and Distribution Co., Ltd., all of which are listed
companies in Taiwan.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jian Hui (8B3£#2), aged 39, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a partner of Shenzhen Dahua Tiancheng Certified
Public Accountants (JRIIIKZERNEETEIEHAT) and
is a registered accountant in the PRC, a chartered
accountant in Securities Industry and a registered
estate surveyor in the PRC. Mr. Wu was responsible for
initial public offering and issue of new shares for various
companies and was a financial consultant to a number
of listed companies in the PRC.

Mdm. Yu Shou Neng (&75F&E), aged 54, is an

independent non-executive Director of the Company.

Mdm. Yu possesses postgraduate qualification. She is

a representative of Shandong Province to the National

People’s Congress and is also the head and a senior

lecturer of Shandong Yantai Agriculture Institute (1L5
BR¥ER).

Ms. Qu Wen (#5E), aged 42, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Ms. Qu is
a second grade solicitor in the PRC, an arbitrator of
Yantai Arbitration Committee, a member of the CPPCC
in 10th Session and a supervisor of Yantai People’s
Procuratorate. Ms. Qu graduated from the Beijing
University and obtained her Bachelor Degree in Law
in 1989. From 1989 to 1992, Miss Qu worked for the
Legal Advisory Office of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province and Bureau of Justice of Muping, Yantai.
From 1992 to 2002, Ms. Qu was a solicitor and a
supervisor of Economic Division of the Shandong
Qianwei Law Firm. Since October 2002, she has been
a solicitor and an executor officer of the Shandong
Yanshiming Law Firm.

BYFHTES

SPREIER L 3958 ARRBIUFNTES  BER
YWREXBREAMELAERA PRS-
BEFEFFTEH PEREMEHEGRERN  BAR
ZHREFBERETIEBRBRENET  XREEZRE
M RREIE SRR o

AISTRER L © B4BR - ARABIUIFATES L2
B IWREAAREK  AR/LURAERESEREER
= ARGEED -

BSEX L 4258 ARRBIUFATES  —RE
i MEHRREZEGHHRE  RMEBRBETEFSZ
BWamARRERAREGES - X ERERIERK
2 UR—N/\NFEBZEELEM - —NL\NF
E-NANCF BRI BRELUREMamE FRAR
BREMEamEFRADABIHE  —ANLZFEZ
T F 0 AT RIIRBIEEEEBA AR L
BEEEZR - — ST _F 1+ ARRIURELTHEM
EBEML TR TEEZS -

—FEN\EEH Annual Report 2008 35



36 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. R&EFZEFIRTRODERA T

Supervisors

Mr. Mu Gui Sheng (51£8%), aged 68, is the chairman
and an independent representative in the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Mu graduated
from Shandong Industrial University (ILET%X
) in August 1965 with a major in the profession
of machinery design. Mr. Mu worked in the Muping
Agricultural  Machinery Factory (& 842 ZHm )
from August 1965 to July 1971. From July 1971 to
November 1980, Mr. Mu worked as the vice chairman
of Muping Ministry of Economic Affairs (£FET %
/). He was the head of the Muping Generator Factory
(B FEBHEB) from November 1980 to April 1984,
From April 1984 to 2001, he acted as the minister of
Muping Economic and Trade Commission (£ 54485
5% 8€FT), minister of Development and Reform
Commission (FE M2k EZ B & EF) and vice minister
of the Muping National People’s Congress (£ F[& AKX
BES).

Mr. Qu Wei Jia (FR#E{E), aged 61, is an employee
representative in the supervisory committee of the
Company. In 1991, he graduated from the Shandong
Muping Teachers Training Institute (IIE&FEZHK
B#EEHR). Since October 1991, Mr. Qu worked
in Yangma Resort (EfHSE/KM). Mr. Qu joined
the Company in October 1999 as the manager of
the administration department. Mr. Qu is currently
the deputy general manager of a subsidiary of the
Company.
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Mr. Wang Chun Tang (E£&Z), aged 56, is an
independent representative in the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Wang has university
academic qualification. Mr. Wang was the officer of the
Communications Bureau of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province from May 1973 to December 1987. He
studied economics and management in the Chinese
Communist Party School and Shandong Province
Party School from 1991 to 1996. From January 1988
to January 2006, Mr. Wang was the supervisor, deputy
chief and managing deputy chief of Publishing Office
of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province. Since January
2006, Mr. Wang has been the member of the Executive
Committee of the Yantai Muping National People’s
Congress.

Senior Management

Mr. Wang An (£%), aged 46, is the vice chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer of the
Company. Mr. Wang is a well known entrepreneur
in the PRC, and one of the top ten Outstanding
Youths Entrepreneurs in Shandong Province. Mr.
Wang has been awarded the medal of “Labor Model
of the Nation” and is a representative of Shandong
Province to the National People’s Congress (AR
7). Mr. Wang graduated from the College of Chinese
Communist Party (LR REREKIFER) in June
1994. He was the general manager of Yangma Resort
(BB BEMBA) for four years before joining the Group.
He joined the Company in March 1996 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry
since then. Mr. Wang is responsible for the overall
management of the Group.
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Mr. Zhang Hui (55#%), aged 37, is an executive Director
and executive president of the Company. He was the
deputy general manager of Muping Foodstuff Industrial
Company Limited (& f LB R A7) and Muping
Material (Z22F#)%&) before joining the Group. Mr. Zhang
joined the Company in December 1998 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry
since then. Mr. Zhang is an engineer and is responsible
for assisting Mr. Wang An for the overall management
of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Hong Qi (Z#%), aged 43, is an executive
Director and financial controller of the Company. Mr.
Jiang holds a Master Degree in Economics majoring in
Accounting. Mr. Jiang is a certified public accountant
in the PRC. He had been both the business manager
and senior manager in Shandong International Trust
and Investment Corporation (ILUEEBEEEFHRER
&]) before joining the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the
Company in 2002 as a deputy chief accountant. Mr.
Jiang is responsible for the accounting and finance
matters of the Group.

Mr. Li Ye Sheng (Z%J¥%), aged 55, is the party
secretary of the Company. Mr. Li has post-secondary
academic qualification. Mr. Li was the squad leader
and captain of a warship under North Sea Marine
from December 1973 to 1990, the supervisor of
the Agricultural Bank of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province from November 1990 to October 1995, and
the deputy manager of Land Development Service
Company of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province from
November 1995 to January 1997. Mr. Li joined the
Company in 1997 as the general manager of Longkou
Andre and Xuzhou Andre.

38  Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. R&FZEFIRTROERA T

SRIESA 0 3THR  ARBHITERRPITAE - 10
BAKER  ERELTFRATIEARARALEYT
MEMRIRLE - REER-AANF+ZAMAKR
NE WEUBEREERTEER - REER—F
TH2RD - WIHBNEREEBBEAREENREBER -

EHRTELE B KERRL ARFANTES
RUBRE - ZRETEGHABEE  TRTEEM
GETED - ERABTIUREBEREERERAEBLK
B SREREER - ZAER_ZZ_FMAAR
A BERAQFEESEE -  ERERBEAEEDN
SR RMEET

FERBEL 5K ARFEZER - FARLEHFA
AREBE - FEAR-NL=F+-_AE-NIZTF
ZEESTFILEEBREEREENR MEER —NNL
ZE+-AE-NMNAFHAEUREREHET R
ERTEME —AARFET—AZ-NANEF A
ELREEETEFRIIMAERE A MERIKE L
Bo ZRER-NANEFMAKRRR - FLREETED
RN~ RN L EAAREIEERAT -



Mr. Yang Tao (#5/8), aged 39, is a vice president of
the Company. Mr. Yang joined the Company in March
1996 and had worked as production line leader,
supervisor and factory manager. He is well experienced
in juice manufacturing. He is currently responsible for
the production of the Group.

Ms. Peng Xiao Jun (¥/)&), aged 33, is a vice
president of the Company. Ms. Peng was the sales
supervisor of Chongaing Jianshe Motor Co. Ltd. (EE
BREREARAR) and Nanjing Siemens Co. Ltd.
(FRFEFIFABRAF]). Ms. Peng joined the Company
in 2002 as an assistant to president. She is currently
responsible for the domestic and oversea sales of the
Group.

Miss Yao Xiao Ying (#kBE4%), aged 35, is the secretary
to the Board. Miss Yao graduated from Northwest
University of the PRC and obtained her Bachelor
degree in Law in 1997. She is currently responsible
for the preparation of the sessions of shareholders’
meeting and meetings of the Board, preservation
of documents, management of information of the
shareholders of the Company and information
disclosure, etc.

Qualified Accountant and
Company Secretary

Miss Ng Man Yee ({h#&&), aged 37, is the qualified
accountant and company secretary of the Company.
Miss Ng graduated from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor degree in
Business Administration in 1994. She is a fellow
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and chartered accountant of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Miss Ng has over
10 years of experience in the field of auditing and
accounting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The articles of association, terms of reference of
the Audit Committee and terms of reference of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company form the
framework for the code of corporate governance
practice of the Company.

The Board has reviewed its corporate governance
documents and is of the view that such documents
have incorporated all of the principles and code
provisions in the “Code on Corporate Governance
Practices” of the GEM Listing Rules (“the CG Code”).
The followings are the major aspects in which the
Company’s own corporate governance code exceed
the code provisions in the CG Code:

- the Company has established a nomination
committee in accordance with the recommended
best practices of the CG Code; and

- the Board met more than 4 times during 2008.

The Board will constantly monitor and if necessary,
revise the corporate governance documents of
the Company, and assess the effectiveness of the
Company’s corporate governance practices in
order to adapt to changes in the environment and
requirements under the CG Code, so as to ensure that
the Company’s corporate governance documents and
practices are in line with the expectations and interests
of the shareholders and comply with the CG Code.

The Company has complied with all the code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the period
under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is managed by a Board of Directors,
which has the responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company. Through the Board, the Directors
are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Directors

As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised a total of 8 Directors, including 4 executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Zheng Yue Wen (Chairman), Mr.
Wang An (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Zhang Hui and
Mr. Jiang Hong Qi; 1 non-executive Director, namely,
Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien; and 3 independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Jian Hui, Mdm. Yu Shou
Neng and Ms. Qu Wen. All Directors served for the
whole of 2008.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. All
Directors are appointed in the shareholders’ meeting
with formal letters of appointment setting out the key
terms and conditions relative to their appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors possess
a wide range of skill and experience. They serve the
important function of providing adequate monitoring
and balances for safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and the Company as a whole. The Board
considers that they can make independent judgement
effectively and fuffill the independence guidelines set
out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on
pages 32 to 35 of this report.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board reviews the performance of the operating
divisions against their agreed budgets and business
objectives on a regular basis and also exercises a
number of reserved powers which include:

- convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting
on their works at shareholders’ meetings;

- implementation of resolutions passed at
shareholders’ meetings;

- formulating the Company’s business plans and
investment proposals;

- preparing the Company’s annual financial budget
and final accounts;

- formulating proposals for profit distribution and
for setting off of accumulated losses of the
Company;

- formulating proposals for an increase or reduction
in registered capital and the issuance of debt
securities of the Company;

- formulating proposals for the demerger, merger
or dissolution of the Company;

- formulating the internal management structure of
the Company;

- appointment or dismissal of the chief executive
officer of the Company and appointment or
dismissal of the deputy general manager, financial
controller and other senior management at the
recommendation of the chief executive officer
of the Company and determination of matters
relating to their remuneration;

- formulating the basic management system of the
Company;

42  Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. R&EFZEFIRTROERAT

ExanE
ARREZR TR B EEMIIRENRE LXK
BEAMNRERR  WITEZREEESN - 84

- BEAKBERARE  WABRKETE:

- BIRERAEGRIRE

- REARKEFEMBRETR

—  HEIARMFEEMBERERETER

—  BIRTRRMAES RS RNBEEET R

— BRI RAHE N E R A M A AR T FRIA R ETT
RAVEFHINE

— RERRAMEEMBHORE

— BEXEFRBARITHAS  RETHRARE
% BESERBATREE  MEREMEMD
BREEAER OREERMER

- HERARMBELREERGE



- formulating proposals for amendments to the
articles of association; and

- carrying out other powers conferred by
shareholders’ meetings.

The Board is also responsible for the integrity of financial
information and the effectiveness of the Company’s
systems of internal control and risk management
processes. The Board is also responsible for preparing
the financial accounts of the Company. The day-to-day
management of the Company’s business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management. The
functions of the Board and the powers delegated to the
chief executive officer are reviewed periodically to ensure
that they remain appropriate.

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role
of the chairman is separate from that of the chief
executive officer. The chairman of the Company is
Mr. Zheng Yue Wen. The chairman is responsible for
convening and holding general meetings and Board
meetings, tracking the progress of implementation
of the resolutions passed by the Board, signing the
securities issued by the Company and carrying out
other powers conferred by the Board. Mr. Wang An is
the chief executive officer of the Company. The chief
executive officer and the management are responsible
for the production, operation and management of the
Company, implementation of the resolutions passed
by the Board, implementation of annual business
plans and investment proposals, formulation of
internal management structure of the Company, the
basic management system of the Company and the
specific governance of the Company. In particular,
the chief executive officer is responsbile for proposing
to the Board for appointment or dismissal of deputy
general manager, financial controller and other
senior management of the Company, appointment
or dismissal of other management staff whose
appointment and dismissal does not require approval
from the Board and carrying out other powers
conferred by the Board and the articles of association.
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Board Meetings

The chairman is responsible for the leadership of the
Board, ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in all
aspects of its role, setting agenda for board meetings,
and taking into account any matters proposed by
other Directors for inclusion in the agenda. Agenda
and accompanying board papers are circulated where
possible at least 3 days before the time of a board or
committee meeting. The chairman is also responsible
for making sure all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings. The chairman ensures
that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear
information. Directors are encouraged to update their
skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Company
through their initial induction, ongoing participation at
board and committee meetings, and through meeting
key people at head office and in the divisions.

All Directors have access to the services of the
company secretary who regularly updates the Board on
governance and regulatory matters. Any Director, who
wishes to do so in the furtherance of his or her duties,
may seek independent professional advice through the
chairman at the Company’s expense. The availability of
professional advice extends to the Audit, Remuneration
and other Committees.

Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the company
secretary or the secretary to the Board and, together
with any supporting Board papers, are available to
all Board members. Board meetings are structured
to encourage open discussion and frank debate to
ensure the non-executive Directors provide an effective
challenge to each executive Director. When necessary,
the independent non-executive Directors meet privately
to discuss matters which are relevant to their specific
responsibility.
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In furtherance of good corporate governance, the
Board has established 3 committees: Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.
All committees have terms of reference which fulfil
the principles set out in the CG Code. The secretary
of the Board takes minutes of the meetings of these
committees and the work of these committees is
reported to the Board.

The Board met 9 times during 2008. The chief
compliance officer, the chief executive officer and the
financial controller also attended most of the Board
meetings to advise on corporate governance, risk
management, statutory compliance, mergers and
acquisitions and accounting and financial matters.
The attendance (other than attending by authorised
representatives) of individual Directors at the Board
meetings and the other committees is set out in the
table below.
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Board Meeting St
Members INED
BE BYFHITES

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person

AE(E/A/R) EE ZYw WA ZH  YH*  JHQ LYS* LCH  WJH  YSN Qw
08/02/28 WA - v v v v v _ - v v
08/03/15 ZYW v v v v v v v v v v
08/03/17 WA - v v v v v _ _ v v
08/05/13 WA - v v v v v _ _ v v
08/06/13 WA - v v - v - _ - v v
08/08/12 WA - v v - v - _ _ v v
08/09/03 WA - v v - v - v v v v
08/11/11 ZYW v v v - v - _ _ v v
08/12/12 ZYW v v v - v - v v v v
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Audit Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(FE/B/8) FE
08/03/15 WJH
08/05/13 WJH
08/08/12 WJH
08/11/11 WJH

Nomination Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
HEI(F/A/8) £
08/06/13 WA

Remuneration Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(F/A/8) ES:
08/03/15 WJH

Note:

ZYW Zheng Yue Wen
WA  Wang An

ZH  Zhang Hui

YHL Yu Hui Lin*
JHQ Jiang Hong Qi
LYS LiYe Sheng™
LCH Lo Chih-Hsien
WJH  Wu Jian Hui
YSN  Yu Shou Neng
QW  Qu Wen

Symbols:
“v" means attended the mesting
“—" means not attended the meeting

* Mr. Yu Hui Lin resigned on 19 May 2008.

* Mr. Li Ye Sheng resigned on 3 September 2008.
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Directors’ Interest

Al Directors disclose to the Board on their first
appointment their interests as a director or otherwise in
other companies or organisation and such declarations
of interests are updated annually. When the Board
considers any proposal or transaction in which a
Director has conflict of interest, the Director declares
his interest and is required to abstain from voting
and withdraw from the meetings as appropriate. The
Company seeks confirmation from Directors annually
in respect of any transactions of the Company or its
subsidiaries which are related to Directors or their
associates.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions (the
“Securities Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings contained in Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. A copy of the
Securities Code is sent to each Director upon his
appointment and thereafter four times annually, that
is one month before the date of the Board meetings
to approve the Company’s quarterly results, half year
results and annual results, with a reminder that the
Director cannot deal in the securities and derivatives
of the Company until after such results have been
published.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard of dealings and the requirements
in the Securities Code during 2008.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company are also subject to compliance with the
Securities Code. No incident of non-compliance was
noted by the Company in 2008.

Exfx
MEEEEANBEREZERNESERRELTAR
IRBREIEFTAETRBOEGN  BRANEHRE
FEH—R - HWEFSENBEMNDZARIZIHRR
EEAETEENRER  ZEFTARBMNELNE
BE UGEEERRTEE - ARARERESINEHE
MHRENEMERESTERMMAIREBEARQF]X
HIE A BETHERB BB S

ESETZEGXS

ARRIEHEM—BEFETEFRR S 2T TRI(GE
ZTRDD) - HIERTERBIRR EMRAIF5.46E
567 FTOIEFIRRHIRE - RRAREEZTNEZ IR
HEE—(ESFTH)  BRBFOR - 2RERB
RAFEEE  FTHREREFXENEFTI RN
—ER  ER—DRERHEL REEETEER
WREMEEARANESHIOTETR -

AEREEFLFEENR  ARAMEESERE
R-ZZTN\FFEEETAFEXHEER(EFRTA)

FRBERERBEAIGEREEANARRIN W RARKE
HURER  MAFTE(ELZTRD) - ARFANR-FTZN
FEEARFRTMEREN

—ZEZNFFHR Annual Report 2008

47



48 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee of the Company
comprises 3 members of which 2 are recommended
by shareholders and 1 is an employee representative
elected by the employees. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board, members
of the Board and senior management, to prevent
authority abuse, shareholders’ interest infringement
and to protect legal interest of the Company and its
employees. During 2008, the Supervisory Committee
held 1 meeting, during which the committee members
reviewed the Company’s financial position, legal
compliance of the Company’s operations and diligence
of the senior management.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control system

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting and
reviewing the Company’s system of internal control.
The Audit Committee will also review the effectiveness
of such system periodically. Procedures applied by the
Audit Committee for reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system include: discussion
with the management on the risky areas arising from
auditing and/or raised by the management, reviewing
material issues arising from internal or external audit
report and reviewing material matters identified by
internal auditors and risk assessment manager of the
Group. The internal control system of the Company
plays an effective role in risk management which is a
very important factor for ensuring the achievement of
operational goal. The establishment of internal control
system is for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition; for maintaining proper accounting
records; and for the reliability of financial information
used within the business or for publication. However,
the procedures provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.
Procedures for the Company’s internal control system
have been designed in accordance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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A review of the Company’s internal control system covering
financial, operational, compliance and risk management is
conducted annually. In particular, the Board has considered
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. The
Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of intemal control. The result has been
reported to the Board.

The Board confirms that systems and procedures are in
place to identify, control and report on significant risks
involved in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives.
Exposures to these risks are monitored by the Board
with the support of various committees and senior
management. For the year under review, the Board
considered that the Company’s internal control system
was adequate and the Company had complied with the
code provisions on internal control under the CG Code.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit Department provides an independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal control system. The department is headed
by a manager who is familiar with the Company’s
operation. Its scope of work mainly includes auditing
of financial and operational systems, observance of
relevant policies and regulations, regular and special
auditing, auditing of production effectiveness, etc. The
audit plan, which is prepared based on risk assessment
methodology, is discussed and agreed every year
with the Audit Committee. In addition to its agreed
annual schedule of work, the Internal Audit Department
conducts other special reviews as required.

The primary reporting line of the Internal Audit
Department is to the chairman of the Board but there
is also direct access to the Audit Committee. Internal
audit reports are sent to the chief executive officer,
the financial controller, external auditors and the
relevant management of the departments under audit.
A summary of major audit findings is reported to the
Audit Committee. The Board and the Audit Committee
actively monitor the number and seriousness of findings
raised by the Internal Audit Department and also the
corrective actions taken by relevant departments.
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Detailed control guidelines have been set and made
available to all employees of the Company regarding
handling and dissemination of corporate data which is
price sensitive.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is concerned with the identification
and effective management of business risks,
including safety and security, legal, environmental and
reputational risks.

Risk Management Committee

The Company has established a Risk Management
Committee which coordinates the proper application of
operational risk management procedures throughout
the Company. The Committee assists the Board
to fulfill its oversight role over the Company and its
subsidiaries in, among others, the following areas:

- establishment of the risk approach and risk
management strategy of the Company to
formulate its risk profile;

- identification, assessment and management of
the material risks faced by the various business
units of the Company;

- reviewing and assessment of the adequacy of the
Company’s risk management process, system
and internal control; and

- reviewing and monitoring the Company’s risk
management process, system and internal
control, including whether the development
of the Company’s business is prudent and in
compliance with the legal requirements.
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Financial risk management and the coordination of the
Company’s policy on environmental issues are outside
its terms of reference. The Committee is chaired by the
financial controller and includes senior representatives
from each division as well as the human resources
manager and the head of Internal Audit Department.
The Committee reports to the Audit Committee on a
regular basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing
the Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and
corporate governance issues and making relevant
recommendations to the Board. All of its members are
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr. Wu
Jian Hui, Ms. Qu Wen and Mdm. Yu Shou Neng) and
its chairman, Mr. Wu Jian Hui, is an independent non-
executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is based
on the guidelines recommended by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee met 4 times in 2008. During
2008, it met to review the internal and external audit
findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, internal control and listing rules
and statutory compliance, and to discuss auditing,
internal controls, risk management and financial
reporting matters. The quarterly, interim and annual
accounts for 2008 were recommended to the Board for
approval after discussion of the Audit Committee.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

In 2008, the total remuneration paid to the external
auditor amounted to approximately RMB2,150,000,
all of which was for audit services provided by external
auditor. The audit fee was approved by the Audit
Committee and endorsed by the Board.

The Statement of the external auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements in set out on pages
76 to 77 of this annual report.
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The Audit Committee has resolved the re-appointment
of KPMG for audits for the financial year 2009. This
resolution has been endorsed by the Board and is
subject to final approval and authorisation by the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Wu
Jian Hui and comprises Ms. Qu Wen as members.
Both of them are independent non-executive Directors.
The Committee’s responsibilities are as follows:

- to recommend the remuneration policy and
structure, for all Directors and senior executives
under transparent and legal procedures to the
Board;

- to approve the remuneration policy and structure
(comprising non-monetary benefit, retirement
benefit and the amount of compensation
including compensation for lost or termination of
office or appointment) for all Directors and senior
executives with the Board’s approval;

- to recommend the remuneration of non-executive
Directors to the Board;

- to formulate, review and approve remuneration
with reference to the performance and the
Company’s objectives laid down by the Board at
irregularly interval;

- to review and approve the compensation paid to
executive Directors and senior management for
loss or termination of office or appointment and
to ensure such compensation is determined in
accordance with the relevant terms of service;

- to set compensation paid to executive Directors
and senior management for loss or termination
of office or appointment under the principle of
fairness, reasonableness and not to create undue
burden to the Company if such compensation
cannot be determined in accordance with the
relevant terms of service;
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- to review and approve compensation for
termination/dismissal of appointment of Directors
due to misconduct and to ensure that such
arrangement is in compliance with the relevant
terms of service;

- to set compensation for termination/dismissal
of appointment of Directors due to misconduct
under reasonable and appropriate basis if
such compensation cannot be determined in
accordance with the relevant terms of service;
and

- to ensure remuneration of any Director or any
associated person cannot be set by themselves.

Factors to be considered by the Remuneration
Committee for formulation of remuneration package
including the remuneration paid by other similar
companies, time devoted by a director, director’s
responsibilities, employment terms of other positions in
the Group, director’s performance, etc.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is
available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee met once in 2008
to review and approve the Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration for 2008. At that meeting,
the Committee approved individual Directors’ and
senior management’s remuneration packages to be
paid for 2008.
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Remuneration Policy for Directors

Remuneration of Directors is subject to annual
assessment and recommendation by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board for further review and
approval, which subsequently require approval by
the shareholders at annual general meeting. The
primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive
remuneration packages is to enable the Company to
retain and motivate executive Directors by linking their
compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives. Under the policy, a Director is not
allowed to approve his own remuneration.

The elements of the Company’s executive remuneration
package include basic compensation (comprising of
director fee) and discretionary bonus without capping.
In determining guidelines for each compensating
element, the Company refers to remuneration surveys
conducted by independent external consultants on
companies operating in similar businesses.

Basic Compensation

The Remuneration Committee annually reviews and
approves the basic compensation of each Director in
accordance with the Company’s remuneration policy.
In accordance with the service contracts entered into
by the Company and each of the Directors, all Directors
have the right to receive fixed basic compensation.

Discretionary Bonus

Under the service contracts between the Company
and each of the Directors, Directors are entitled to a
discretionary bonus based on the Company’s results
and the degree of responsibilities of each of the
Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2008,
the Directors did not receive any discretionary bonus.

The amounts paid to each Director of the Company
for 2007 and 2008 are disclosed in note 12 to the
Financial Statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Wang
An, an executive Director, and comprises Mr. Wu
Jian Hui and Ms. Qu Wen as members. The role of
the Committee is to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of Directors, evaluation of
Board composition and the management of Board
succession with reference to certain guidelines as
endorsed by the Nomination Committee. These
guidelines include appropriate professional knowledge
and industry experience, personal ethnics, integrity and
personal skills, and time commitments of members.
The Nomination Committee carries out the process
of selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship including the consideration of referrals and
engagement of external recruitment professional when
necessary. The Nomination Committee met once in
2008 to discuss the Board composition and to evaluate
the independence status of the independent non-
executive Directors.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure and
comprehensive, transparent reporting. The chairman
of the Company is ultimately responsible for ensuring
that there is effective communication with investors
and that the Board understands the views of the
major shareholders. The chairman therefore makes
himself available to meet with the shareholders for this
purpose. On a day-to-day basis, the Board’s primary
contact with the major shareholders is through the
chief executive officer and financial controller of the
Company.
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To enhance the Company’s system of information
disclosure, and to ensure the accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of the Company’s public disclosures, an
Information Disclosure Review Committee, led by the
financial controller was established. The Information
Disclosure Review Committee is responsible for
the establishment of procedures to compile, verify
and report the Company’s financial and operational
statistics and other information as well as to supervise
the drafting and publication of periodic reports.

Printed copies of the quarterly, interim and annual
reports are sent to all shareholders. The most recent
annual general meeting was held on 19 May 2008 at
3rd Floor, No. 18 Andre Avenue, Muping Economic
Development Zone, Yantai City, Shandong Province,
the PRC. The meeting was open to all shareholders
and members of the press and was attended by all
substantial shareholders personally present or by

Proxy.

As part of a regular programme of investor relations,
senior management holds briefings and attends
conferences with institutional investors and financial
analysts to engage in a two-way communication on
the Company’s performance and objectives. A wide
range of information on the Group’s business activities
is made available to investors and the public through
the corporate website and the website of the Stock
Exchange. Webcasts of the meetings announcing the
quarterly, interim and annual results are also available
on the corporate website and the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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In 2008, the Company held several meetings with
analysts and investors in its Hong Kong office,
organised 2 Company visits by analysts, 1 Company
visit by press, conducted 2 press conferences, and
were interviewed by press on 6 occasions. The
Company also arranged 5 road shows for analysts and
investors in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas. These
activities allowed them to have good opportunities to
directly communicate with and understand the senior
management, general staff and operating staff of the
Company, as well as to visit different places of business
of the Group.

According to the information publicly available to
the Company and within the best knowledge of the
Directors, at least 41.27% of the Company’s total
issued share capital is held by the public at all times.
As at 24 March 2009, being the latest practicable
date, there were over 700 holders of H shares on the
Company’s register of shareholders.

Enquiries may be put to the Board by contacting the
company secretary through the shareholders’ hotline
or email, or directly by questions at an annual general
meeting or special general meeting of the Company.
Questions on the procedures for convening of or
putting forward proposals at an annual general meeting
or a special general meeting of the Company may also
be put to the Company by the same means.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting the annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2008.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing
and sale of apple juice concentrate, pear juice
concentrate, apple essence, feedstuff and related
products. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the Financial
Statements.

Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled
Entities

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company and its
interest in jointly controlled entities as at 31 December
2008 are set out in notes 19 and 21 to the Financial
Statements respectively.

Results

The results and financial status of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2008 are set out in pages 78
to 175 of this annual report.

Five-Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the reporting period, the Group mainly exported
products to the US market, Japanese market and
European market, and was expanding its market to
other countries. The sales attributable to the top five
customers of the Group accounted for about 73.29%
of the Group’s total turnover and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to about 48.52%.
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Purchases from the Group’s top five largest suppliers
accounted for about 5.51% of total purchases for the
year. The largest supplier accounted for about 2.05%
of the total purchases of the Group for the year.

None of the Directors, Supervisors, their respective
associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the
top five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

Dividends

The Board has resolved to recommend a final
dividend of approximately RMB29,859,000 (inclusive
of tax), or RMBO0.007 per share for 2008. The
proposal to declare and pay this final dividend will
be submitted to the shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on 22 June 2009. Final dividend for Domestic
Shares will be distributed and paid in Renminbi
whereas dividend for H Shares wil be declared
in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The
register of holders of H Shares of the Company will
be closed from 23 May 2009 (Saturday) to 22 June
2009 (Monday) (both days inclusive) during which
no transfer of H Shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for entitlement to the proposed final dividend
and for attending and for voting in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, all transfers
of H Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s H Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited
at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2009 (Friday). The final dividend
will be distributed within one month from the conclusion
of the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Share Capital

The change(s) in share capital of the Company is set
out in note 35 to the Financial Statements.
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Reserves

The change(s) in reserves of the Company in the year
is set out in the statements of changes in equity of the
Group and the Company in the Financial Statements.

The distributable reserves of the Company as at
31 December 2008 amounted to approximately
RMB280,440,000 (2007: RMB213,417,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group incurred approximately
RMB167,362,000, mainly for the construction of new
production line and acquiring plant and equipment.

The change(s) of property, plant and equipment of the
Group is set out in note 17 to the Financial Statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association or the Company
Law of the PRC which oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

For the year ended 31 December 2008, neither the
Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Rights to
Acquire Shares or Debentures

None of the Directors or Supervisors of the Company
or their respective associates was granted by the
Company or its subsidiaries any right to acquire shares
or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate, or had exercised any such right as at 31
December 2008.

* For identification purpose only
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals
During the Year

The Company completed the following material
acquisitions and disposal during the year ended 31
December 2008:

(i) disposal of 50% equity interest in Yongiji
Andre to AGRANA pursuant to the share
transfer agreement on 28 February 2008 for a
consideration of EUR11,000,000 (such disposal
was completed on 30 June 2008);

(i)  acquisition of 49% equity interest in Binzhou
Andre from Korea Jeong Soo Andre Co., Ltd.
pursuant to the agreement on 17 March 2008
for a consideration of RMB96,000,000 (such
acquisition was completed on 1 April 2008); and

(i)  acquisition of 70% equity interest in Qingdao
Nannan from Qingdao Nannan Co., Ltd.* (5 &
AR AR)and Korea Nam Yeung Industrial
Co., Ltd. pursuant to the share acquisition
agreement on 2 October 2007 for a consideration
of US$2,100,000 (such acquisition was
completed on 31 March 2008).

Apart from the above transactions, no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated

companies had been made by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2008.

Significant Investment

No significant investment was held by the Group as at
31 December 2008.

* For identification purpose only
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Employment and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a total of
1,340 employees (2007: 1,399 employees). Staff
costs including directors’ remuneration for the
years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December
2007 were approximately RMB26,172,000 and
approximately RMB19,946,000 respectively. Details of
the emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors and
the top five highest paid individuals of the Group are
set out in notes 12 and 13 to the Financial Statements.
The Group’s employment and remuneration policies
remained unchanged from those described in the
prospectus of the Company dated 11 April 2008.
The salaries and benefits of employees of the Group
are kept at a competitive level and employees are
rewarded on a performance related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system which is reviewed annually. A wide range of
benefits, including statutory compulsory welfare plans,
are also provided to the employees.

Retirement Fund Scheme

The retirement fund scheme is set out in note 7 to the
Financial Statements.

Directors and Supervisors

During the year 2008 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors and Supervisors of the Company were as
follows:

Executive
Directors:

Zheng Yue Wen, Wang An,
Zhang Hui, Jiang Hong Qi, Li Ye
Sheng (resigned on 3 September
2008) and Yu Hui Lin (formerly T2
#R) (resigned on 19 May 2008)

Non-executive Lo Chih-Hsien
Director:

Independent Wu Jian Hui, Yu Shou Neng
non-executive  and Qu Wen
Directors:

Supervisors: Mu Gui Sheng , Wang Chun Tang

and Qu Wei Jia

RE L HZEFNRTROBRLF

ol

{& 8 B 5B 3R

RZZEENF+ZA=+—H KXEEREHH1,340
HET(ZEZELF 1,3909%)  c H=2—_ZTTN\F X
TEEHFE+ A=+ —HIEFEZEIRA(EIE
BEWe) DRI AEARK 26,172,000 TR ARE
19,946,0007C c A RRIZEEMEZRAEBZRA
SREHMA T2 FREBRN SRR TE 1213
AEERAMFHBERRFBEAEBRN ST =F
AT+—HBMERERMAETE - ALBEREZH S
MEMEZRAERF HKE - MEE ZHREFIR
BAEBEZHSREAHEREERRASFRIE
TE o AEEREBIREZERAMN(RIE AT R
Tl -

B EHE
ARFR D B BRI R -

EFERESE

R-ZFTZNFREEAREAH  NABZEERE
=T

HITES BEX - T2 RE - =fE - FE
BR-_ZZEN\FAA=ZHEHE) LT
EM(ERETER) (R_ZETNF

FA+TABEHE)

FMITEE: BB

BLIETT SRERHE - BUSTRE - B
B%:
BE: R THRELMGE



Each of the Directors and Supervisors (including the
independent non-executive Directors and Supervisors)
has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years. None of the Directors or
Supervisors had entered into any service contract with
the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Length of Term of Non-executive
Directors

The existing non-executive Director was appointed
for a term of three years from 28 May 2007 to 27
May 2010. The term of the existing independent non-
executive Directors is also from 28 May 2007 to 27
May 2010.

Independence of Independent non-
executive Directors

The Company confirms that the Company has
received written independence status confirmation
from all independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
All independent non-executive Directors are considered
as independent.
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Change of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management

Mr. Yu Hui Lin was appointed as an executive Director
and compliance officer of the Company on 26 June
2001. Due to attaining the age of retirement, Mr. Yu
resigned as an executive Director and compliance
officer of the Company on 19 May 2008. With effect
from 19 May 2008, Mr. Li Ye Sheng was appointed
as an executive Director and compliance officer of
the Company. Mr. Li subsequently resigned as an
executive Director and compliance officer of the
Company on 3 September 2008 due to internal job
re-arrangement within the Group. Mr. Zhang Hui, an
executive Director of the Company, was appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company with effect from
3 September 2008. Save as disclosed herein, there
was no material change to the directors, supervisors
and senior management of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2008.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the reporting period.
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Connected Transaction

On 17 March 2008, the Company and Andre Juice
Co., Ltd. (“Andre BVI") (as purchasers) entered into a
share acquisition agreement with Korea Jeong Soo
Andre Co., Ltd. (as vendor), whereby (1) the Company
agreed to purchase from Korea Jeong Soo Andre
Co., Ltd. 24% equity interest in Binzhou Andre at a
cash consideration of RMB47,020,408.20 or US$
equivalent (approximately HK$52,192,653.10), and (2)
Andre BVI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
agreed to purchase from Korea Jeong Soo Andre Co.,
Ltd. 25% equity interest in Binzhou Andre at a cash
consideration of RMB48,979,591.80 or US$ equivalent
(approximately HK$54,367,346.90). Under the GEM
Listing Rules, Korea Jeong Soo Andre Co., Ltd. is a
connected person of the Company by virtue of holding
49% equity interest in Binzhou Andre, a subsidiary of
the Company. The acquisition therefore constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The total consideration for
the acquisition was RMB96,000,000 or US$ equivalent
(approximately HK$106,560,000), which represents
49% of the net asset value of Binzhou Andre as at 31
December 2007 of RMB70,793,730 plus a premium
of approximately 26%. The consideration was
determined after taken into account the prospects of
the profitability of Binzhou Andre and after arm’s length
negotiations between the purchasers and the vendor.
The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) considered that the terms of the share
acquisition agreement, which had been concluded
after arm’s length negotiation between the parties,
were fair and reasonable so far as the Company and
its shareholders are concerned. The Board considered
that the acquisition represents a good opportunity for
the Company to increase its production capacity and
to obtain better control and management of Binzhou
Andre.
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Related Party Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
entered into transactions with related parties as set
out in note 36 to the Financial Statements. These
related party transactions do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interest in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company was a party in 2008.

Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short
positions of the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which
were (a) required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); and (b) required to be recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

66 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. REHZEFRRHERATE
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required standard of dealings by the directors of the
Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the

el il

ARBRBRAERESTETESR S BN - £
AR REEENT

GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
Long positions in the shares of the Company AFEREERYG
Approximate
Approximate percentage of
percentage of total share
Name of Class of Number of Type of  Domestic Shares capital
Directors Shares shares held Capacity Interest HEERBER HIEERA
Espsg R A3 &Rl FEROEA 5t BHES BAl B
Wang An Domestic 1,188,105,006 () Interest of controlled Personal  47.42% (&)  27.85% ()(&)
(Note 1) Shares (Note 2) corporations A
I% FRBR  1,188,105,006 (&) (Note 1)
(FizE1) (Ftix2) R EEER
GERD
Notes: BsE -

As at 31 December 2008, Mr. Wang An, a director
of the Company, controlled (a) 90% interest in
China Pingan Investment Holdings Limited, which
held 441,519,606 Domestic Shares, representing
10.35% interest in the total issued share capital of the
Company; and (b) 80% interest in Shandong Andre
Group Co., Ltd* (IUERZEFILEAERAA]), which
held 746,585,400 Domestic Shares, representing
17.50% interest in the total issued share capital of the
Company.

2) Mr. Wang An was deemed to be interested in these
Domestic Shares through his interests in China Pingan
Investment Holdings Limited and Shandong Andre
Group Co., Ltd.* (LU ZEFEEBRAF)).

(8)  The letter “L” denotes a long position.

* For identification purpose only

1 RZZTENF+ZA=+—8B AREMNESFT
% » #2517 (@ China Pingan Investment Holdings
Limited 90% Az, B1441,519,606R% 3E 7B A%, {h
ANREHEARA L) 10.35% F (b) LU R 2 = F) £ B BR
R 7)80% KM # , BN 746,585,400 IRIETBAR, (h7R
NEERRAL)17.60% °

(2 FZEFBBER China Pingan Investment Holdings
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2008, so far as the Directors are
aware, the following persons (other than the Directors,
Supervisors and chief executive of the Company) had
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company which were
discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO and recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions and short positions in the shares of
the Company

Name of Number of
substantial shareholder Class of shares shares held
TERRER A5 FiEROEE
China Pingan Investment Domestic 441,519,606 (L)
Holdings Limited Shares (Note 2)
JERER  441519,606(K)

(Fizk2)

Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.” Domestic 746,585,400 (L)
LREZENERERAF Shares (Note 3)
ERER  746,585,400(K)

i)

HSBC International Trustee Limited Domestic 657,794,593 (L)
Shares (Note 4)

ERER  657,794593(F)

(Wtsx4)

626,340,000 (9)
626,340,000 (%)

* For identification purpose only
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(BEHEHE
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RARBRABRG
Type of
Capacity Interest
&t BHES
Beneficial Corporate
owner NG
EnlBA
Beneficial Corporate
owner NG
ERHAA
Trustee Corporate
EFEA AL

*EREF)

Approximate
percentage of
Domestic Shares/
H Shares
BiEERER/
HREDH

17.62% () (&)

29.80% () (%)

26.26% (L) (F)

25.00% (3) (%)

1501 336 IR MEF B 2 B rcith 2 1

Approximate
percentage of
total share
capital
HiEBRA
BAl

10.35% (L) (&)

17.50% (U (&)

15.42% () (&)

14.68% () (%)



Name of

substantial shareholder Class of shares

TERRER R ER

Uni-President Enterprises Corp. Domestic

R-ERHERAF Shares
B

Atlantis Investment Management Ltd.

Invesco Hong Kong Limited (previously
known as Invesco Asia Limited)

Invesco Hong Kong Limited ( 278 &
Invesco Asia Limited)

Mitsui & Co., Ltd.
SHMEK e

JP Morgan Chase & Co.

HSBC Global Asset Management
(Hong Kong) Limited (Formerly
known as HSBC Investments
(Hong Kong) Limited)

HSBC Global Asset Management
(Hong Kong) Limited (&7 A
HSBC Investments
(Hong Kong) Limited)

H Shares
Hix

H Shares

HIX

H Shares

HIX

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

Number of
shares held

FERGHE

637,460,401 (L)
(Note 5)
637,460,401 ()
(GED)

419,990,000 (1)
419990,000(K)

167,436,000 ()
157,436,000(&)

97,000,000 ()
97,000,000(£)

129,420,820 (L)
129,420820(%)
129,420,820 (P)
(Note 7)
129,420,820 (&)
(H37)

106,688,000 (L)
106,688,000 (%)

Capacity
af

Interest of
controlled
corporations
(Note 6)
REHEERR
(Pzte)

Investment
manager
RELR

Investment
manager
RELE

Beneficial
owner

BHEAAA

i

P

Custodian
corporation/
approved
lending agent
EREE/
REREHREA

Investment
Manager
RELE

Type of
Interest

REEE

Corporate
AL

Corporate
A7

Corporate

N

Corporate

N

Corporate
A7

Corporate
NG

Approximate
percentage of
Domestic Shares/
H Shares

ik TER/
HREZ L

25.44% () (&)

23.86% () (&)

8.94% (L) (&)

551% (L) (&)

7.35% (L) (&)

6.06% (L) (%)

di. el

Approximate
percentage of
total share
capital
DEBRA
BAl

14.94% )(R)

9.85% (L) (£)

369% (1) (%)

2.27% () (&)

3.03% (U (R)

250% (L) (&)
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70  Yantai

The letter “L” denotes a long position. The letter
“S” denotes a short position. The letter “P” denotes
interests in a lending pool.

Mr. Wang An, a director of the Company, was deemed
to be interested in these Domestic Shares through
his 90% interest in China Pingan Investment Holdings
Limited.

Mr. Wang An, a director of the Company, was deemed
to be interested in these Domestic Shares through his
80% interest in Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (LI
ZIENEBBRAT).

The long position in 657,794,593 Domestic Shares
were held by HSBC International Trustee Limited in the
capacity of trustee, which Domestic Shares were held
directly by Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.. Each of
ACME Team International Limited and Prosper United
Limited was deemed to be interested in these Domestic
Shares through their direct and indirect control of
Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd..

The short position in 626,340,000 Domestic Shares

were held by HSBC International Trustee Limited in the
capacity of trustee.

For identification purpose only
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By an agreement dated 12 December 2008, Uni-
President China Holdings Ltd., a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of Uni-President Enterprises Corp. (51—
ERMDERAR]), agreed to acquire an aggregate
of 451,130,807 Domestic Shares of the Company,
representing approximately 10.58% of the total issued
share capital of the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, namely, Chengdu President Enterprises
Food Co., Ltd. (K#HE—EERMERAR) (in
respect of 237,854,007 Domestic Shares, representing
approximately 5.58% of the total issued share
capital of the Company) and Guangzhou President
Enterprises Co., Ltd. (BMZE—REARAAE) (in
respect of 213,276,800 Domestic Shares, representing
approximately 5.00% of the total issued share capital
of the Company) (the “Acquisition”). Prior to the
Acquisition, Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co.,
Ltd. (K&EFH—EERMEMRAFT) held 186,329,594
Domestic Shares, representing approximately 4.37%
of the total issued share capital of the Company. As
at 31 December 2008, the Acquisition had not been
completed. Upon completion of the Acquisition, Uni-
President China Holdings Ltd. would have an aggregate
interest of 637,460,401 Domestic Shares of the
Company through Chengdu President Enterprises Food
Co., Ltd. (K EBHFE—ERMBR A F]) and Guangzhou
President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (B/MNFE—1DEEEAQ
Al), representing approximately 14.94% of the total
issued share capital of the Company.

Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Uni-President
Enterprises Corp. ($i—DEBKMDAERADF]) was
deemed to be interested in such 637,460,401 Domestic
Shares. The 637,460,401 Domestic Shares would
be held by a series of controlled corporations of Uni-
President Enterprises Corp. (fi— 1% H AR AR,
of which 424,183,601 Domestic Shares, representing
approximately 9.94% of the total issued share capital
of the Company, would be held directly by Chengdu
President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (5#&BgE—1>%
RmARAR) and 213,276,800 Domestic Shares,
representing approximately 5.00% of the total issued
share capital of the Company, would be held directly by
Guangzhou President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (BN & —1
¥R A 7)) upon completion of the Acquisition.

These H Shares were held directly by JP Morgan Chase
Bank N.A., a wholly-owned subsidiary of JP Morgan
Chase & Co..

BE—MBHAZSENF_A+ZAZHE &
—ERMDBERA R ZIEEEN B AT Uni-President
China Holdings Ltd. FIEFEAE 2 &M E A BT —
TERMHAR AR (AEI237,854,007 BIERIEA - 14
A RAEIR N4 5.58%) REM G — X GRAF (FHA
213,276,800 A JE it imAk + 152N A Bl AERR AR 49 5.00%) Y
B84 3£ 451,130,807 AR RIFERIBAL © (hAR B4R
ARH]10.58% ([ZUEE D) o Rz BB AT - REBHR—
RmmARAFHH 186,329,504 I IEmBAY + 154K QA
BIRAL437% - RZZEZNF+ZA=+—H " Z
IREBARTERK © sz BB STAK/Z + Uni-President  China
Holdings Ltd. #35@ &5 — Pt ERMBRA B LEIMN
F—EBRATIFEE 1£637,460,401 FRARFIFER
B AEARD BB AL 14.94% ©
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RIMAR 1 637,460,401 IR IEMIMAR RS - Faz i
FERK T4  72637,460,401 IRIETBRBA—DERNE
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BE o AEARRRIMARRAEL9.94%  EEMAKEG—LER
MmERARFEE - M Kk2138,276,800 & IE /AL - 1574
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75 °

% H A% JP Morgan Chase & Co. 2 —R& &M B AT
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. EEZ#A
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Competing Interests

None of the Directors, the management shareholders
of the Company and their respective associates (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which competes or may compete with
the businesses of the Group or has or may have any
other conflicts of the interest with the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2008.

Practices and Procedures of the Board
of Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard
of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as the
Company’s code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. A copy of the Required
Standard was sent to each Director one month
before the date of the Board meeting to approve
the Company’s 2008 annual results, with a reminder
that the Directors cannot deal in the securities and
derivatives of the Company until after such results have
been published.

Under the Required Standard, the Directors are
required to notify the chairman of the Company and
receive a dated acknowledgement in writing before
dealing in the securities and derivatives of the Company
and, in the case of the chairman of the Company
himself, he must notify the chairman of the Audit
Committee and receive a dated acknowledgement in
writing before any dealing.

All Directors, upon specific enquiries, have confirmed
that they had complied with the Required Standard
during the reporting period.
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Specific employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group
are also subject to compliance with the Required
Standard. No incident of non-compliance was noted by
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee
with written terms of reference based on the guidelines
recommended by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control of the Group,
ensuring compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Wu
Jian Hui, who is the chairman of the Audit Committee,
Qu Wen and Yu Shou Neng.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the Directors, including a review
of the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2008. The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the
year with all three members (namely, Wu Jian Hui, Qu
Wen and Yu Shou Neng) present.

Auditor

KPMG shall retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In the past 3 years, the Company’s auditor remained
unchanged.

By Order of the Board of Directors
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Zheng Yue Wen

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2009

* For identification purpose only
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74 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

To the Shareholders:

The Supervisory Committee (the “Supervisory
Committee”) of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*,
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
and the Articles of Association of the Company, has
conducted its work in accordance with the fiduciary
principle, and has taken up an active role to work
seriously and with diligence to protect the interests of
the Company and its shareholders.

During the year, the Supervisory Committee had
reviewed cautiously the development plans of the
Company and provided reasonable suggestions
and opinions to the Board. It also strictly and
effectively monitored and supervised the Company’s
management in making significant policies and
decisions to ensure that they are in compliance with
the laws and regulations of the PRC and the Articles of
Association of the Company, and in the interests of its
shareholders.

We have reviewed and agreed to the report of the
Directors, audited financial statements and the dividend
to be proposed by the Board for presentation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. We are of the
opinion that the Directors, the chief executive officer
and other senior management of the Company are able
to strictly observe their fiduciary duty, to act diligently,
to exercise their authority faithfully in the best interests
of the Company and to work in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company. The operation
is becoming more regulated and the internal control is
becoming more perfect. The transactions between the
Company and connected parties are in the interests
of the shareholders as a whole and under fair and
reasonable price.

* For identification purpose only
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Up till now, none of the Directors, chief executive
officer and senior management staff had been found
to have abused their authority, damaged the interests
of the Company or infringed upon the interests of its
shareholders and employees. None of them was found
to be in breach of any laws and regulations or the
Articles of Association of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the
achievement and cost-effectiveness of the Company in
2008 and has great confidence in the future prospect
of the Company.

By Order of the Supervisory Committee
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Mu Gui Sheng

26 March 2009

* For identification purpose only
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with
limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (the “Company”)
set out on pages 78 to 175, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at
31 December 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing,
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair

implementing and maintaining internal

presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Those standards require that we comply with ethical
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requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the group as at 31 December 2008
and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2009
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BHfEER

(UAREZT)

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

Profit from operations

Net finance costs

Investment income

Share of profit from an associate

Profit before taxation
Income tax

Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company

Minority interests

Profit for the year

Dividends payable to equity

shareholders of the Company

attributable to the year:
Final dividend proposed after
the balance sheet date

Basic and diluted
earnings per share

The notes on pages 86 to 175 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2008
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
HEZZZT)\F+ZA=1+—HLFE
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10
11

15

16

2008 2007
—EEN\E T
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARETIT
1,309,354 1,662,976
(1,066,444) (1,235,581)
242,910 427,395
23,170 15,478
(67,281) (106,834)
(46,023) (38,860)
(8,813) (4,614)
143,963 292,565
(43,257) (26,462)
77,151 =
4,036 501
181,893 266,604
(25,448) (31,451)
156,445 235,153
156,107 213,874
338 21,279
156,445 235,153
29,859 29,859
RMBAR#¥0.037 RVBAE#0.052




ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Lease prepayments
Interest in an associate
Goodwiill

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
and prepayments
Restricted deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Bank loans

Trade payables

Other payables and
accrued expenses

Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

HE
FRBEE

e I
BN HEEE
REEE R BIRE
A

B EE

FRBEEAFT

MBEE

FE
FEMBR K
HAib fE R

RIBRM R
BREIEH
R kBEEEY

BERERRAR
mBAE

RITER
FEfTRRR
HAlRE 5K
KIERE M
mBBBRE

RBABEAS

FRBEE

BEEGRABAR

17(a)
18
22
23
24

25
26

27
30
31

32
33

34
24

at 31 December 2008
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) — |
RZTEZENEFET=A= =

(UNAREZT)
2008 2007
—EE)\FE —ETTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
830,801 774,104
101,028 68,741
67,232 63,196
1,452 1,452
26,903 -
1,027,416 907,493
901,740 1,317,130
84,589 329,626
86,858 193,208
17,697 8,237
114,114 97,597
1,204,998 1,945,798
2,232,414 2,853,291
856,775 1,061,064
95,620 215,714
109,646 127,405
29,465 26,713
1,091,506 1,430,896
113,492 514,902
1,140,908 1,422,395
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EHEERER

at 31 December 2008
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
RZZZNF+-A=+—H

(AABRBEZT)
Note
Bt
Non-current liabilities JEmEaE
Bank loans RITE 32
Deferred tax liabilities FEEF B & 24
Other long-term liabilities HihREGE
Total non-current liabilities EREBBEEF
Total liabilities BEAG
Capital and reserves AR A R (A
Share capital (&N 35(b)
Reserves (Gt
Total equity attributable to equity R AR (G 2

shareholders of the Company

Minority interests VIR E R
Total equity R ERE T
Total equity and liabilities REE=REEESR

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2009.
EEeRN _TTNF= A= BIETIREEDL -

Zheng Yue Wen )

BREE L ) Directors
) 5=

Wang An )

3 )

The notes on pages 86 to 175 form part of these financial statements.
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2008 2007
—BBN\F ZETERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
- 328,707

7,785 -

249 249

8,034 328,956
1,099,540 1,759,852
426,554 426,554
698,770 595,748
1,125,324 1,022,302
7,550 71,137
1,132,874 1,093,439
2,232,414 2,853,291




ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Lease prepayments
Investments in subsidiaries

Interest in jointly controlled entities

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
and prepayments
Dividends receivable
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from jointly
controlled entities
Restricted deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank loans
Trade payables
Other payables and
accrued expenses
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Amounts due to jointly
controlled entities
Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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MBEE
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REREHEEHRE

EREREE

FERBEEAFT

BEE
&
JEM R K
H A & UK
IR BRSR
FEUILE.
P& LA BfS 18 2 ) IR
FEU I R

=5 Bl 4
B

BREIEH
R kREEFEY

RiEaRAR
BEE

RITER

&SRR

HARE 5K
KIERE M
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FEA H RIS

== BE A
BiEKIA

mBBIRAE
mBAERF

MBEE

Note
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=
e

17(b)
18
19
21
24

25
26

27
28
29

29
30
31

32
33

34
29

29
24

R-TENE+—A=4+—H

(AAEEZT)
2008 2007
“EBNF —TELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETIT
151,800 130,334
15,352 10,630
459,790 426,905
104,102 54,760
5,130 =
736,174 622,629
372,678 584,361
59,805 202,473
53,184 110,247
203,847 171,355
321,111 661,479
11,426 3,775
17,697 8,237
101,641 64,271
1,141,389 1,806,198
1,877,563 2,428,827
671,775 816,064
18,273 28,5635
27,351 45,949
172,683 214,600
14,013 104,222
15,382 10,192
919,477 1,219,562
221,912 586,636
958,086 1,209,265
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EEREXR

at 31 December 2008
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
RZZEZNF+-A=+—H
(AAEBST)

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2009.

FRBAR
RITER

FRBEEAF

A B (et S
B
G

B AR

RERk BB

EEeRN_TTNF=RA T ABRETEEED -

Zheng Yue Wen
BREEC

Wang An
=

The notes on pages 86 to 175 form part of these financial statements.
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Directors

Note
B =E

32

35

2008 2007
—BBN\F ZETERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
- 328,707

- 328,707

919,477 1,648,269
426,554 426,554
531,532 454,004
958,086 880,558
1,877,563 2,428,827




Cash flows from operating
activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation

Amortisation of lease prepayments

Interest expenses

Interest income

Other income — recognition of negative
goodwill arising on business
combination

Investment income

Share of profit from
an associate

Operating profit before changes
in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

Decrease in other receivables
and prepayments
Increase in restricted deposits
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables
Increase/(decrease) in other payables
and accrued expenses

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Income tax paid
Interest paid
Interest received

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

EETDHEED
BenE

BR A% At A1)

AR

e

BN L E B

MEER

FEHA

H A WA — RERR S 75
BhtalEZ
amE

REWRA
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FERD(HEm)

FENRFOR D, (42 00)

H At MR K FEA R K
D

PR i1 K8 A0

FERTRRAR ORL), /12 0

H AR R R FRR
BRI, ORd)

REEE/(FRZRE
TR PTISR
SATEIFE

WA S

BEIDZRSEE (RH)
B

BE-SE/\F A= S

Note
FaE

0

V'V O

aptES

(UNAREZT)

2008 2007
ZEZ)\FE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
181,893 266,604
78,075 68,777
2,194 1,282
55,101 66,269
(2,026) (2,238)
(5,907) -
(77,151) -
(4,036) (501)
228,143 400,193
429,655 (614,982)
251,161 (156,056)
79,093 1,879
(9,460) (5,701)
(120,009) 120,446
8,282 (25,317)
866,865 (279,538)
(41,814) (10,610)
(55,101) (66,269)
2,026 2,238
771,976 (354,179)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EHEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2008
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
HEZZZT)\F+ZA=1+—HLFE

(UAREZT)
2008 2007
ZEEIN\E —TTLF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR®TR ARET T
Cash flow from investing activities BREFHELENRERE
Payments for the purchase of property, BEYE BEX
plant and equipment B (145,758) (177,680)
Payments for of lease Bt LA ES
prepayments (28,139) (6,568)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash WHEHTB A A
acquired (BEIRRMEZRE) 20(a) (12,078) (45,875)
Acquisition of minority interests of WEMB AR 2
subsidiaries DEATR 20(b) (109,514) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEK&
plant and equipment RAEFTIS SRR 1,355 897
Proceeds from disposal of HEMNRBARER
equity interests of a subsidiary, Fr#S 5038 (B 0Bk
net of cash disposed of HEZRE) 9 119,016 =
Repayments of advances to HEEHIES
a jointly controlled entity B - 61,476
Advances to third parties BRTE=H - (6,375)
Repayments of advances to FE=ZTEX
third parties 15,805 9,109
Net cash used in investing activities REFEIZHLRHBHE (159,313) (165,016)
Cash flow from financing activities ERTHEEMTLRE
Proceeds from new bank loans FGIRITE R 754,539 1,436,076
Repayments of bank loans BEBITEN (1,287,535) (1,020,802)
Proceeds from the issue BITIRANKFTIS
of share capital A - 140,628
Dividends paid BERE (33,866) (23,126)
Advances from a shareholder MARER fE 5N - 20,084
Repayments of advance from a shareholder [ i% 5 f& 7&K (23,784) =
Advances from third parties ME=JTE®R - 5,500
Repayments of advances from third parties A5 = 5 & 7 & 7% (5,500) =
Net cash (used in)/generated EEEHZHRE (RH) R/A
from financing activities BE (596,146) 558,360
Net increase in cash and ReRBFSEEYIEM
cash equivalents B8 16,517 39,165
Cash and cash equivalents FPZHRER
at beginning of year BeEEEY 97,597 58,432
Cash and cash equivalents FRZHER
at end of year BeEEEY 114,114 97,597

The notes on pages 86 to 175 form part of these financial statements.
5586 HZE 5 175 AHMI B A Bk ey —B1p -

84 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. HAILFRENRITRDERA T



At 1 January 2007

Issuance of shares

Shares IssUance expenses

Capitalsation issue

Acouistion of a subsiciary

Acquisttion of minorty interests

Profit for the year

Appropriations

Dividends to equty shareholders
of the Company

At 31 December 2007

At January 2008

Acoistion of a subsidiary

Acquisttion of minorty interests

Profit for the year

Appropritions

Dividends to equty shareholders
of the Company

At 31 December 2008

The notes on pages 86 to 175 form part of these financial statements.
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Note
izt
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)

()

209)
20)

()

for the year ended 31 Decembell-EOO'_
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuaﬂ,
BE_ZTT/\F+Z A=+ Bl

(AN RHS75)
Total equity
attributable
to equity
shareholders
Share Capital Share Statutory Retained of the Minority Total
capital surplus premium Teserves eamings  Company interests equity
FUFRR
IR BiENE  JBRR BRER
Bs  EBOR RBER  ERGR IR it fig it
RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR AREAR
180,888 10 214816 83,594 168,642 697,950 9567 107,587
13,000 = 136,44 = = 148445 = 148445
- - (7817 - - {7817 - (7817)
232,666 - (232,666) - - - - -
- - - - - - 50,768 50,768
- - (3,017) - - 3017 (10497) (13514)
- - - - 213874 213874 21,219 285,163
= = = 23444 (23,448 = = =
- - - - 1133 @iy - @iy
426,564 10 166,761 107,038 199 102230 s 100343
426,504 10 166,761 107,038 199 102230 i 1003439
- - - - - - 8849 8849
- - 23.220) - - (23.22) (r2.1m4) (96,000)
- - - - 166,107 186,107 38 16,445
- - - 16,747 (15,747) = = -
- - - - 29.859) 29,859) - 29,.859)
426,554 10 143535 122,785 R4 112530 79650 11387

586 5 175 A MR A B HmA A —Bb1D °
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86 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

otes to the

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEEZT)

Organisation and principal activities

Yantai North Andre Juice Company Limited
(the “Company”) was established in the form
of a Sino-foreign equity joint venture in Yantai,
Shandong province, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) on 30 March 1996.

With the approval from the Ministry of Commerce
(formerly the Ministry of Foreign Trade and
Economic Cooperation) of the PRC, the legal
form of the Company was changed from that of a
Sino-foreign equity joint venture to a Sino-foreign
joint stock limited company on 26 June 2001.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the production and sale of condensed
juice.

Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). IFRSs include all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
related interpretations. These financial statements
also comply with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised
IFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group and the Company. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements as at
and for the year ended 31 December 2008
comprise the Company, its subsidiaries and
the Group’s interests in jointly controlled
entities and an associate.

The financial statements are prepared on
the historical cost basis, except where
stated otherwise in the accounting policies
set out below.

The preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs requires management
to make judgments,
assumptions that affect the application of

estimates and

policies and reported amounts of assets,
income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions

liabilities,

are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making
the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are disclosed in

Note 40.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuar_r)
(UAREIIR)
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2

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

(i)

88 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Subsidiaries and minority interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled
by the Group. Control exists when
the Group has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. The
financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date
that control ceases.

Minority interests represent the portion
of the net assets of subsidiaries
attributable to interests that are not
owned by the Company, whether
indirectly through
subsidiaries, and in respect of which

directly or

the Group has not agreed any
additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial
Minority interests are presented
in the consolidated balance sheet

liability.

within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Minority interests
in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement as an
allocation of the total profit or loss for
the year between minority interests
and the equity shareholders of the
Company.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Subsidiaries and minority interests
(cont’d)

Where losses applicable to the
minority exceed the minority’s
interest in the equity of a subsidiary,
the excess, and any further losses
applicable to the minority, are
charged against the Group’s interest
except to the extent that the minority
has a binding obligation to, and is
able to, make additional investment
to cover the losses. If the subsidiary
subsequently reports profits, the
Group’s interest is allocated all such
profits until the minority’s share of
losses previously absorbed by the
Group has been recovered.

Associates

An associate is an entity in which
the Group or the Company has
significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is
accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity
method and is initially recorded at
cost and adjusted thereafter for
the post-acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the associate’s net
assets. The consolidated income
statement includes the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the associate for the
year, including any impairment loss
on goodwill relating to the investment
in associate recognised for the year
(Note 2())).
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i)

(i)

90 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Associates (cont’d)

When the Group’s share of losses
exceeds its interest in the associate,
the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity
which operates under a contractual
arrangement between the Group
or the Company and other parties,
where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the Group or the
Company and one or more of the
other parties share joint control over
the economic activity of the entity.
Investments in jointly controlled
entities are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements
on a proportionate consolidation
basis. Under this method, the Group
combines its proportionate share of
the jointly controlled entities’ turnover
and expenses with each major
turnover and expense caption of
the Group’s income statement and
combines its proportionate share of
the jointly controlled entities’ assets
and liabilities with each major asset
and liability caption of the Group’s
balance sheet, from the date that joint
control commences until the date that
joint control ceases.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(v) Transactions eliminated on
consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions,
and any unrealised gains arising
from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised gains arising from
transactions with associates
and jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the entities.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

Investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities

Investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities in the Company’s
balance sheet are stated at cost less
impairment losses (Note 2 (j)).

Profits or losses on disposal of investments
in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities
are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the investments and are
accounted for in profit or loss as they arise.

(Expressed in Renminbi#uag .
(UARBIT)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses (Note 2())).

The cost of an asset comprises its
purchase price and any direct attributable
costs of bringing the asset to working
condition and location for its intended use.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item. They are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost, less their estimated residual values, if
any, using the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment are as follows:

Estimated Estimated rate
useful life  of residual value
Buidings 8-20 years 10%
Machinery and equipment 10 years 10%
Motor vehicles 5years 10%
(Office equipment 5 years 10%

In respect of assets which are used for
production of goods for only part of the
year, due to seasonal factors, the full
year’s depreciation charge is allocated on
a systematic basis to the periods during
the year in which the assets are used for
production.

Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives,
the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

The cost of replacing part of an item
of property,
recognised in the carrying amount of

plant and equipment is

the item if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the
part will flow to the Group and its cost can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised.
The costs of the day-to-day servicing
of property,
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

plant and equipment are
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Construction in progress represents buildings
and various plant and equipment under
construction and pending installation, and
is stated at cost less impairment losses
(Note 2 (j)). Cost comprises direct costs of
construction incurred during the periods
of construction. Borrowing costs are not
capitalised.

Construction in progress is transferred to
buildings, and machinery and equipment
when the asset is substantially ready for its
intended use.

No depreciation is provided for construction
in progress.

(e) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost
of a business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilites and contingent
liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units and is tested annually
for impairment (Note 2())).
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e)

U]

(9)

Goodwill (cont’d)

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of a business combination is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit
during the year, any attributable amount
of purchased goodwil is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent payments
made to acquire land use rights. Land use
rights are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (Note
2(j)). Amortisation is charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the respective
periods of the land use rights.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The cost
of inventories is based on the weighted-
average cost principle, and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories, production or conversion costs
and other costs incurred in bringing them to
their existing location and condition. In the
case of manufactured inventories and work
in progress, cost includes an appropriate
share of production overheads based on

normal operating capacity.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(9)

(h)

96 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Inventories (cont’d)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense of the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories, arising from an increase
in net realisable value, is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (Note 2()),
except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

U]

0

Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition.

Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of trade and other
receivables
Trade and other receivables that
are stated at cost or amortised cost
are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the Group about
one or more of the following loss
events:

- significant financial difficulty of
the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such
as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

= it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;
and
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

98 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Impairment of trade and other

receivables (cont’d)

- significant changes in the
technological, market,
economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on
the debtor;

If any such evidence exists, any
impairment loss is determined and
recognised as follows:

For trade and other receivables
and other financial assets carried
at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference
between the assets’ carrying amount
and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the
financial assets’ original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition
of these assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at
amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past
due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

0)

Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

Impairment of trade and other
receivables (cont’d)

If in a subsequent period the amount
of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss
recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off
against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade
debtors and bills receivable included
within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for
doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group
is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors
and bills receivable directly and
any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

= long-term prepayments;

- intangible assets other than
goodwill;

- investment in subsidiaries;

- interest in jointly controlled
entities;

- interest in associates; and

= goodwill.

f any such indication exists, the
asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwiill,
intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

()

Impairment of assets (cont’d)
Impairment of other assets (cont’d)

(i)

Calculation of recoverable
amount

The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its net
selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current
market assessments of time
value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent
of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (cont’d)
(i) Impairment of other assets (cont’d)

Recognition of impairment
losses

An impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying
amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value
less costs to sell, or value in
use, if determinable.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

() Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (cont’d)
- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and
impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with IAS
34, Interim financial reporting. At the
end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year
(Notes 2(j)(i) and (ii)).
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

0

(k)

(U]

Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(i)~ Interim financial reporting and
impairment (cont’d)
Impairment losses recognised in an
interim period in respect of goodwiill,
carried at cost are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the
end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised
initially at fair value less attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference
between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings,
together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Trade payables and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities
of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group or the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

2

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n)

Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group, and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in

profit or loss as follows:

(i)

(i)

(i)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred
to the customers. No revenue is
recognised if there are significant
uncertainties regarding recovery of
the consideration due, associated
costs, or the possible return of
goods.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues using the effective interest
method.

Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised in equal
installment over the periods covered
by the royalty agreement.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(o) Expenses

(i)

(i)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in
profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating
leases are recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment made.

(p) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
benefits and the cost to the Group of
non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees
of the Group.

Defined contribution retirement plans
Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution retirement
plans are accrued in the year in
which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Group.
The contribution payables under
the Group’s retirement plans are
recognised as expense in profit or
loss as incurred.

2
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(q)

U]

108 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Government grants

Unconditional government grants are
recognised in profit or loss as revenue
upon receipt. These grant amounts are
determined and paid at the sole discretion
of the local government of certain
jurisdictions in the PRC.

Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as
revenue in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for cost of an asset
are recognised in profit or loss as revenue
on a systematic basis over the useful life of
the asset.

Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year
comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment
1o tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance
sheet liability method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The amount of deferred
tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s)

(t)

Foreign currency transactions

The Group’s functional and presentation
(“RMB”).
currency transactions during the vyear

currency is Renminbi Foreign
are translated into RMB at the applicable
rates of exchange quoted by the People’s
Bank of China (“PBOC”) prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into RMB at the applicable
PBOC rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. Foreign exchange differences arising
from translation are recognised as income
or expense in profit or loss.

The overseas subsidiaries are considered
to be an integral part of the Company’s
operations. Accordingly, the related foreign
exchange differences arising on translation
are also recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial
statements, a party is considered to be
related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries,
to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in
making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

(i)  the Group and the party are subject
to common control;

2
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

() Related parties (cont’d)
(i)  the party is an associate of the Group
or a joint venture in which the Group
is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key
management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent, or a close
family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such
individuals;

(v the party is a close family member
of a party referred to in () or is an
entity under the control, joint control
or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vij the party is a post-employment
benefit plan which is for the benefit
of employees of the Group or of
any entity that is related party of the
Group.

Close family members of an individual
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.
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Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following new
Interpretations and an amendment to IFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period
of the Group:

IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 - Group and treasury
share transactions

° IFRIC 12 - Service Concession
Arrangements

o IFRIC 14, IAS 19 - The Ilimit on a
defined benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction

o Amendment to IAS 39, Financial
instruments: Recognition and
measurement, and IFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Reclassification
of financial assets

These IFRS developments have had no material
impact on the Group’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2008 as they were
not relevant to the Group’s operations.

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period (Note 41).
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

4 Turnover and segment information

Turnover primarily represents income arising from
the sale of condensed juice net of value added
tax.

No segment information is presented during the
year as the Group is principally engaged in one
operating segment which is the manufacture and
sale of condensed juice and related products.
The Group operates in the PRC and its major
assets are located in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
turnover by geographical market:

North America b3
Europe B
Others )
Total A&f
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2008 2007
—BE2N\F ZETLRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBTT
694,480 726,507
236,773 593,170
378,101 343,299
1,309,354 1,662,976




Other income

Sales of packaging materials HEBEME
Government grants IEgiag
Rovyalty income B UA

Recognition of negative goodwill  ¥7&& HfE 4

arising on business ZERE
combinations

Others E At

Total A&t

(i) Sales of packaging materials

(ii)

This represents the sales of barrels, which are
used for the storage of the Group’s products,
and unused steel materials which are the major
raw materials to manufacture the barrels.

Government grants

During the year ended 31 December
2008, the Group received a total of
RMB4,081,000 from various government
authorities as rewards for its contribution
to local environmental protection, local fruit
industry and local technology development.

During the year ended 31 December 2007,
the Group received a government grant
of RMB6,557,000 from Dalian municipal
government to reward the Group for its
investment in Dalian.

(Expressed in Renminbi#uag .
(UARBIT)

Hulg A
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

5 Other income (cont’d)

(iii) Royalty income
This represents the royalty fee received
from a third party distributor for the
exclusive right to distribute products of the
Group in the United States of America and
Canada.

(iv) Recognition of negative goodwill
arising on business combinations
This represents the recognition of
negative goodwill arising from the Group’s
acquisition of the equity interests in
Qingdao Nannan Beverage Co., Ltd. on 31
March 2008 (Note 20(a)).

6 Other operating expenses

Cost of packaging materials sold 247 §5 & B R

Others HA
Total =X
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6,246 3,940
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Personnel expenses

Salaries, wages and staff welfare & + T& &8 T&F|

Contributions to retirement RO RT3k
benefit schemes
Total A&t

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement plans organised by municipal
governments for its staff. The Group is required
to make contributions to the retirement plans
at 20% (2007: 20%) of the salaries, bonuses
and certain allowances of its staff of last year. A
member of the plan is entitled to a pension, to
be paid by the municipal governments, equal to
a fixed proportion of the salary prevailing at his
retirement date. The Group has no other material
obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these plans beyond the annual
contributions described above.

RIRH

2008 2007
—EBBNF —TELF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFT AR¥ET T

22,707 17,771
3,465 2,175
26,172 19,946
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Net finance costs

Interest expenses on bank RAFAEHEFE
loans repayable wholly ZERITER
within five years AEEA

Interest income IS ON

Bank charges RITER

Net exchange gain EBTHET PN

Total BFt

Investment income

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Group transferred 50% equity interest in Yongji
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (“Yongji Andre”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company before the
transfer, to AGRANA Juice GmbH, for a total
consideration of EUR11,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB119,132,000). The investment income
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2008 represented the difference between the
consideration received and the carrying amount
of the equity interest disposed of. After the
completion of this transfer, Yongji Andre has
become a jointly controlled entity of the Group.
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9

Investment income (cont’d)

The Group’s effective interests of

assets and

liabilities disposed of are analysed as follows:

Property, plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Inventories

Other receivables and prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued
expenses

Net assets

Consideration received,
satisfied in cash

Less: cash and cash equivalents
disposed of

Net cash inflow

BN LEEE

&

H At B WK e TR A R K

Re kR eEHED

& A B3R

HAth AR N T TR
&M

FEE

Wz K& -
MR E A

B HEZRE R
ReEEY

FREBRMA

RAEWA (])

AREHEZEERABZERESOMNOT

2008
—EENF

Note RMB’000
BaE AR%®ETRT
17 45,605
18 2,617
6,915

2,938

116

(5,115)

(11,095)

41,981

119,132

(116)

119,016
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10 Profit before taxation

11

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Auditor’s remuneration —
audit services

Operating lease charge
— land use rights
— hire of plant

Research and development
expenditure

/E S

R Kt &
SRS —
EIZARTS
REHEER

— i R
—HERE

Ik
£

Income tax in the consolidated

income statement

(@) Taxation in the consolidated income
statement represents provision for PRC
income tax and deferred tax recognised

from origination or reversal of temporary

differences.

Current tax

Provision for PRC income tax

Deferred tax

Origination of temporary

differences

10 FRRFEIEF

B AR M E R TFIEA

2008

it 2 282
RMB’000
AR®TR

78,075

2,150

2,194
8,168

1,596

2007
—ETLF
RMB’000
ARET T

68,777

1,990

1,282
8,294
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2008 2007
ZEEINE —ETE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
= HARIE
B EMSIHE B 44,566 31,451
IEIEFTE
TRERE
Elp:! (19,118) =
25,448 31,451
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Income tax in the consolidated
income statement (cont’d)

@)

(cont’d)

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary
Session of the Tenth National People’s
Congress passed the Corporate Income
Tax Law of the PRC (“new tax law”) which
took effect on 1 January 2008. As a result
of the new tax law, the applicable tax rate
of the Company and all of the subsidiaries
other than Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
has been changed to 25% from 1 January
2008. Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. can
continue to enjoy a preferential tax rate of
15% till the end of 2010. In accordance
with the relevant PRC tax rules and
regulations, certain of the Company’s
subsidiaries are exempt from PRC income
tax for two consecutive years starting from
their first profit making year, and are entitled
to a 50% relief on PRC income tax for
the following three years (“Tax Holidays”).
Pursuant to the transitional arrangement
under the new tax law, certain subsidiaries
will continue to enjoy the tax-exemption
or 50% relief on the applicable income tax
rate under the new tax law until the expiry
of the Tax Holidays previously granted,
and thereafter they are subject to the
unified rate of 25%. For those enterprises
whose preferential tax treatment had not
commenced due to lack of taxable profit,
such preferential tax treatment would
commence from 1 January 2008.

The subsidiary operating in the United
States of America is subject to income tax
at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the United States of America.

11 SHIRSRPAOFRER (\)

(@)

(#8)

(PEARKMBEEMEHE) VATH
BIMPED EATEARKNESE +E
ERARREASERREIN_FTTL
FZAtTABERB B_TENF—A—
BEEMTT o REBEFHPOEMTE - ARA MK
BKZIENRE A R 2 & LA P B B
BRRERNAEHEE ST N\F—H
—HEDEE/25% - BKRLZRBMRET
BERAFBEE_TZEFFRNATEER
B15%BERE - RETEEBEHHARA
KBl - & T MR R R R A B F 2
B £F-—FMNE_FRELERAEHR - F
ZFEFRAFRFRBEEMEH (RS
BEH) - RIEFHEZEREBZHER
E - EATHEBARMD SRR 2 /R0
ZRBIMRFBREEMERNEEEE
EERBEERERL  RBEEHZER
B —ER25%HEEMEHRREE - =21
LR DHEMBEMRRBZEEREE
BHBZEE  ZMKEEFBEN_F
ENF—A—BHRHK -

PR BT OB 2 TR 1 TS BB R
BEBBARE TRITHE -

—FZ)N\EEH Annual Report 2008 119



11

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Income tax in the consolidated
income statement (cont’d)

(b)

The following is a reconciliation between

accounting profit at the applicable tax rate

and income tax expense:

Profit before taxation

Expected PRC income tax
expense at a tax rate
of 25% (2007: 24%)
Tax effect of exemption
and relief granted
Tax effect of the difference
in tax rates between the
Company and the subsidiaries
Tax effect of tax deduction for
purchases of domestically
manufactured equipment
Tax effect of unused tax losses
not recognised
Others

Income tax expense

11 aHRSKRPAOMER (§)

(b) ATNHERERMEGFEZMSHEMSH
B2 P
2008 2007
ZET\FE —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT
BRI A A 181,893 266,604
REABE25%
“ETEF  24%) 5 E
ZHBIFTEH 45,473 63,985
IS
(11,630) (37,028)
/NG )=
i A 2= B
-~ - (8,988) (76)
BERE
BB
7 (1,495) (1,323)
RIERART AR
BB 908 33
EAth (i) 1,180 5,860
Frisii & A 25,448 31,451

(i) Others primarily represent the tax effect of

non-deductible expenses.
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emoluments

12 Directors’ and supervisors’

12 EFRESHS

Details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments

are as follows:

Name

Executive Directors:
Zheng Yuewen
Wang An
Yu Huilin
Zhang Hui
Jiang Hongo
Li Yesheng

Non-executive Directors:
Zhang Wanxin
Ren Xiaojian
Lo Chih-Hsien

Independent Non-executive
Directors:
Hu Xiaosong
Wu Jianhui
Yu Shouneng
QuWen

Supervisors:
Qu Weilia
Wang Chuntang
Mu Guisheng
Chen Kelin

4

#178%
L3¢
Iz
Tei
g
A%
555

FHES:
REM
EERI
BER

BUHES

HM
ki
AITH

R

£%:
i
iz%
AR
BRseth

(i) Appointed on 28 May 2007

(ii) Resigned on 28 May 2007

(i)~ Appointed on 28 May 2007 and resigned on 3
September 2008

(iv)  Resigned on 19 May 2008

J

f)
il

U

U

EEREEMEZFBET
Directors’ and Salaries, Retirement
supervisors’ allowances and scheme
fees benefits in kind contributions Total
EZREZR i55e
g R R EiE7 b &t
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“BT0\E CERtE ZBENE CSRLE ZBENE CTRHE ZEBAE —ERtF
{Amounts in RMB'000)
(ARETT)
50 50 - - - - 50 50
50 50 79 67 7 7 136 124
- 50 54 67 - 7 54 124
50 50 79 67 7 7 136 124
50 29 64 53 - - 114 82
3 29 79 56 - - 112 85
- 21 - - - - - 21
- 21 - - - - - 21
50 50 - - - - 50 50
- 21 - - - - - 21
50 50 - - - - 50 50
50 50 - - - - 50 50
50 29 - - - - 50 29
30 30 49 55 4 7 8 R
30 18 - - - - 30 18
30 30 - - - - 30 30
- 13 - - - - - 13
523 591 404 365 18 28 945 984
0] RETTLFRA-+N\BAHREE
iy RZZEZTLFRA-T/\BHEE
iy RZTETEFRAZTNHHEZERRZ=ZZZN
FNA=HEHE
vy R=-ZZN\FRA+NLABET
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

12 Directors’ and supervisors’

13

emoluments (cont’d)

For the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007, no emoluments were paid to the directors
or supervisors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Company or as compensation for loss
of office. During the years ended 31 December
2008 and 2007, no fee or any other emolument
was waived by directors or supervisors.

Senior management’s emoluments

Among the five highest paid individuals, four
(2007: four) were executive directors and one
(2007: one) was a supervisor whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 12 above.
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14 Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company includes a profit of
RMB64,895,000 (2007: RMB120,059,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company.

15 Dividends

(a) Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year:

14 BERFLFRERZRT

SEBNARARREZAHENEEETARRAR
B FERERFE AR 64,895,000 T( —EZ+H4F ¢
AER#120,059,0007T) °

15 KR

@ AFEIRKBREFAQITRR :

2008 2007
—ETN\F ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Final dividend proposed after REEE BREZDIK
the balance sheet date of REARR B IR AR% 0.007 7T
RMBO0.007 per share —EELF HK
(2007: RMB0.007 per share) AR #0.007 7T) 29,859 29,859

The final dividend proposed after the
balance sheet date has not been
recognised as a liability at the balance sheet
date.

REERREZEDIRZ KRR EAREER
ERBRRAERRAR
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings
per share is based on the profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB156,107,000 (2007: RMB213,874,000) and
the weighted average of 4,265,536,000 shares
(2007: 4,121,361,000 shares) in issue during the
year, calculated as follows:

Issued shares at 1 January
Effect of shares issued
Effect of capitalisation issue

Bin BT 8

Weighted average number of
shares at 31 December &

There was no difference between basic and

diluted earnings per share as there were no

dilutive potential shares outstanding during the

year.
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BRNMBTZRE

—A—HEBTZRE

TZA=+—BmEFH

15 Dividends (cont’d) 15 BB ()
(b) Dividends payable to equity b) BRAL—HEFE IREAFERER
shareholders of the Company IRFALITRRNRE :
attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the
year:
2008 2007
“SBNE  —TTiE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Final dividend in respect of BRE—MHEE -
the previous financial year, WRANF E e R A
approved and paid during 2 RER B AR
the year, of RMB0.007 per share  AR#0.007 T (ZZEZLF -
(2007: RMB0.015 per share) BRAKRK0.0157T) 29,859 27,133
16 Basic and diluted earnings per share 16 BEFRMERSEET

REGREARBEERANFAEER AR LT
% 3R & {d s A A R 156,107,000 0 ( Z 2 & +
F: AR ¥213,874,0007T) R AN F B # 17
19 DN #E I 15 £14,265,536,000 % ( — T T+ 4 :
4,121,361,000 %) ' H&T :

2008 2007

ZEZ)\FE —ETLF

Note '000 '000
MI5E TB% Tz
35(0) 4,265,536 1,808,880
35(0) = 64,466
35(0) - 2,248,015
4,265,536 4,121,361

HRMAEEEESERE  ALBRERR
HNESREERNL EZF -




17 Property, plant and equipment

(a)

The Group

Cost:
At1 January 2007

Additions
Transfers
Acquisition

of a subsidiary
Disposals

At 31 December
2007

At 1 January 2008

Additions

Transfers

Acquisition of a subsidiary
Disposal of a subsidiary
Other disposals

At 31 December
2008

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2007

Charge for the year
Wiritten back on disposals

At 31 December
2007

At1 January 2008
Charge for the year
Written back on:
Disposal of a subsidiary
Other disposals

At 31 December
2008

Net book value:
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

;7.8
R-ZELE
—5-f

HE
ENNE
RERBAR

KE

R-ZZ2+t+E
+-A=t-H

R-ZTENF
—~A-R
hE
EHDE
WEEHEB LR
HEMBAR
AthRE

REENE
+ZA=1-H

BHITE:
i g
—A—R
REERE

READ

HoFTLE
+ZA=1-H

R-2FNF-A-H
AEEHE
M
HEHBAT
HRE

R-BZN\E
+=A=1t-8

17 9% - BERERE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) |

(UAREAT)

(@ *£E
Machinery
and Motor Office Construction

Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment in progress Total

BEY BIERRG RE MOERGE 2 EERIE &t

Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
s ABRTR ARRTT ARRTRT AERRTT ARRTR ARRTR
248,381 501,572 13,205 14,234 7,042 784,434

18,282 91,297 1,781 1,661 78,656 191,677

34,428 46,067 - 252 (80,747) -

40,428 34,520 441 626 2,043 78,058
(698) - (574) (49) - (1,321)

L. . . D S e
340,821 673,456 14,853 16,724 6,994 1,052,848

54,316 62,836 2,062 3,236 44,922 167,362

33,004 9,157 - 264 (42,425) -

20() 6,079 8,129 300 45 - 14,923
9 (14,809) (81,352) (878) (241) (1,619) (48,387)
(1,629) - (507) - - (2,136)

L Mries 2% 1630 038 7818 1184610
(32,614)  (163819) (6,582) (7,376) - (210,391)

(17,656) (46,436) (2,29) (2,389) - 68,777)

13 - 385 26 - 424

.. 000 | ei0y 84w Or9 o L
(60,257)  (210,255) (8,493) (9,739) - (278,744)

(17,604) (56,217) (1,839) (2,415) - (78,075)

9 385 2,310 60 27 - 2,782
104 - 124 - - 228

I L O L. L1 I
350,416 458,064 6,172 8,271 7,878 830,801

290,564 463,201 6,360 6,985 6,994 774,104
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

17 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(@) The Group (cont’d)

No property, plant and equipment of the

Group were pledged as at 31 December

2007 and 2008.

(b) The Company

Cost:

At 1 January 2007
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

At 31 December
2007

At 1 January 2008
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

At 31 December
2008

17 9% - BEERE (&)

(@ *%£E(&E)
RZBEZE+FR_FEZENF+_A=1+—
B AEEBMECANEEEFRAYE K
B R -
(b) AEAF
Machinery
and Motor Office Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles  equipment in progress Total
BEY HERRGE RE BOERE 2 ERIE &
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AERTT ABRMTRT AEWTR ARBTR AERWTR ARBTR
BE:
R-E5+5-f-H 62,367 97,081 6,523 5,556 3,191 174,718
e 1757 15,204 633 508 3,881 22,073
ESpe 6,461 360 - 251 (7,072) -
RE (698) (8,946) - - - (0,644)
i g
+-A=t-H 69,887 103789 7,156 6,315 - 8T 147
R=EZ\F-A-H 69,887 103,789 7,156 6,315 - 187147
AE 33,503 7,555 845 744 5,512 48159
EZpe 2710 1,897 - 264 (4.871) -
RE (1629 (17,070 (330) - - (19,029)
R_BEN\F
+-A=t-H 104471 96,171 7671 7,323 641 216277
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17 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(LA RBFIR)

17 % - BERRE ()

(b) The Company (cont’d) (b) AT (E)
Machinery
and Motor Office Construction
Buildings  equipment  vehicles equipment in progress Total
BEY BEREG RE BOERE 2 ERIE ait
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ABRTT ABR®TR ARWTR ARRTRT ARRTT AREBTR
Accumulated depreciation: Rt :
At1 January 2007 RZZZtF-A-H (11,745) (28,227 (8,293) (2,748 - (46,013)
Charge for the year TEEHE (2,855) (8,772) (1,168) (771) - (13,566)
Written back on disposals RERD 18 2,753 - - - 2,766
At 31 December RIZTLE
2007 +-A=1-H (14587)  (34,246) (4,461) (3519 - (56,813)
At 1 January 2008 RZZZ\E-A-A (14,587) (34,246) (4,461) (3,519) = (66,813)
Charge for the year TEEHE (3,124) (9,198) (707) (818) - (13,847)
Written back on disposals RERD 104 6,002 7 - - 6,183
At 31 December RZZTN\E
2008 +-A=1-H (17607) (37,442 (5,091) (4,337) - (64,477)
Net book value: IRaE
At 31 December 2008 ZB3)\E+ZB=1-A 86,864 58,729 2,580 2,986 641 151,800
At 31 December 2007 “Z3tE+-A=1-H 55,300 69,543 2,695 2,796 - 130,334
No property, plant and equipment of the RZETLFR_ETENF+_A=1+—
Company were pledged as at 31 December B AREMEEMNSEERRODE K
2007 and 2008. BB K7kt e

—FZ)N\EEH Annual Report 2008 127




PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

18 Lease prepayments

18 WftLHEER

The Group The Company
FEE 3N

2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZINE —TELF k- =1 ¥ 3 —TELF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
[lif=3 AE®TT AREFT AE®TT ARETT
At 1 January n—A—R 68,741 32,722 10,630 11,063
Additions =m 30,238 6,568 5,000 =
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ 4EEIB A A 20(a) 6,860 30,733 - -
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR 9 (2,617) = - =
Amortisation By (2,194) (1,282) (278) (433)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 101,028 68,741 15,352 10,630

Lease prepayments represent payments for land
use rights in the PRC.

19 Investments in subsidiaries - the
Company

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LT - KA
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=i
19 RIELTINRE -FLF
2008
“SETI\F
RMB’000

AR®TR

459,790

2007
—ETF
RMB’000
ARETIT

426,905




19

Investments in subsidiaries - the

19 RBLATFMRE - F2F (K)

Company (cont’d)
Details of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries n
as at 31 December 2008 are as follows: B

Name of company

LRER

Yantai North Andre Juice Inc.
FEA AR RER
FtRHBRAR

Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
HARENREBRAR

Yantai Longkou Andre Juice
Co., Ltd.

RaEORENRTHH
BRARA

Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

NZENRET BRAR]

Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
ZEHETARAT

Place of
incorporation
and operation

IR
ERME

The United States
of America

e
Shaanxi, PRC

ERAEE

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

Jiangsu, PRC
FEIHE

British Virgin Islands
AERS

Principal activities

EERE

Sale of juice

RTHE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERHE

Manufacture and
sale of juice
FTEEREE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERHE

Investment holding

RARR

PANES]

A=A
Authorised/
Registered
capital Paid-in
EE/ capital
gEx BhEs
US$100,000 US$100,000
100,000 100,000%7T
US$17,000,000  US$17,000,000
17,000,000%7  17,000,000% 7T
US$12,110,000  US$12,110,000
12,110,000%7T 12,110,000
US$10,000,000  US$10,000,000
10,000,000%7  10,000,000% 7T
US$50,000 USS$1
50,000 shares S
of US$1 each
50,000%7T
50,000 k&%
1%

T N\F+_A=+—R  ARFAKRERHKH

Proportion of
ownership interest
FrikBRELE
Direct Indirect
HE &
100% =
75% 25%
75% 25%
75% 25%
100% =
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(UARRZT)

Investments in subsidiaries - the
Company (cont’d)

Name of company

LRER

Xuzhou Andre
Pomace Products Co., Ltd.
ENEEHREHRER AR

Longkou Andre
Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd.
EORENENAHERAR

Baishui Andre
Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd.
BARENENREHBRAR

Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
ANEREFIRFTEB AR

Binzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
EMNRENFERHERAR

Qingdao Nannan Beverage Co., Ltd.

EERERNARAT

Yantai Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
RazEFRTHRERAT

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Place of
incorporation
and operation

BIR
ERME

Jiangsu, PRC
FETEE

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

Shaanxi, PRC
HEIRAEE

Liaoning, PRC

Shandong, PRC
IS

Shandong, PRC
RERE

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

19 RBLATFMRE - F2F (K)

Principal activities

EERE

Manufacture and

sale of pomace products
REHREE

K&

Manufacture and
sale of bio-feedstuff
R E
k&

Manufacture and
sale of bio-feedstuff
EMEEEE
R#&

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERHE

Manufacture and
sale of juice
BTEERHEE

Manufacture and
sale of fruit pulp

RELERBE
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Authorised/
Registered
capital
e/
EREF

US$500,000
500,000% 7

US$500,000
500,000%7

UUS$500,000
500,000%7T

RMBS0,000,000
AE®
80,000,0007C

US$12,100,000

12,100,000%7T

US$3,000,000
3,000,000%7T

US$4,832,000
4,832,000

Paid-in
capital

RbRE

US$500,000
500,000 7T

US$500,000
500,000%7T

US$500,000
500,000% 7T

RMB80,000,000
A%
80,000,000

US$12,100,000

12,100,000 7

US$3,000,000
3,000,000

US$4,832,000
4,832,000% T

Proportion of
ownership interest
FrikBREL A
Direct Indirect
HE i

- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
70% 30%
75% 25%
70% =
75% 25%



20 Acquisitions of a subsidiary and
minority interests

(a)

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 31 March 2008, the Group acquired
19% equity interest of Qingdao Nannan
Beverage Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao Nannan”)
from Korea Nam Yeung Industrial Co.,
Ltd. (@ company incorporated in Korea) at
a cash consideration of RMB4,001,000
and 51% equity interest of Qingdao
Nannan from Qingdao Nannan Co., Ltd.
(@ company incorporated in the PRC) at
a cash consideration of RMB10,739,000.
After the acquisition, the Group totally held
70% equity interest of Qingdao Nannan.

20 WRHEBARRVBERRER

()

WEHE AT
R-ZEZENF=ZA=+—"H KAEBEMNUR
SHRIE AR 4,001,000 T[RRI R RESE
KRS (—RREEKILZ AR KES
SEEHRHERAR([E5mmMA1)19%#
mEMBEESNREARE 10,739,000 LA F
SEEARAR(—KRHBBEKZAR])
WEBESEMEs1%En - RIBTKE -
REBEHREESRERM70% #E
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

20 Acquisitions of a subsidiary and

minority interests (cont’d)

(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary (cont’d)
The acquisition had the following effect on

the Group’s assets and liabilities on the

acquisition date:

Property, plant and
equipment
Lease prepayments
Inventories
Trade receivables
and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables
and other payables

Net identifiable assets
and liabilities

The Group’s 70% share

of the net identifiable assets

and liabilities acquired

Purchase consideration,
satisfied in cash

Cash and cash equivalent
acquired

Net cash outflow

nx - BEREE

BNLHHES
{53

FELRBRRN X EL At FE LK
RELASEFEN

R R EMEMNR

AHREER
AfEFE

HREERAEL
FETARENE

iR #) 70% B &89

WERE

NREME
WEnRE R
BeEEY

REMLFR
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20 WRHEBLARRDBERRER ()

(@ WHEKHEAR (&)
ZHBEBREERHAEENEERAEN

2 JUNNE
Pre-acquisition Recognised
carrying Fair value values on
amounts  adjustments acquisition
g 1)) LRRE TR FEE
RE&H % HRNEE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 AR®FT AR®FRT ARBTT
17 16,436 (1,513) 14,923
18 6,360 - 6,860
21,180 - 21,180
8,466 - 8,466
2,662 - 2,662
(24,595) - (24,595)
31,009 (1,613 29,496
20,647
14,740
(2,662)
12,078




20 Acquisitions of a subsidiary and
minority interests (cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (cont’d)
Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were
determined based on applicable IFRSs
immediately before the acquisition. The
values of assets and liabilities recognised
on acquisition are their estimated fair
values. The fair value of property, plant and
equipment and lease prepayments was
determined basing on their market values.

The newly acquired subsidiary has
incurred a loss of RMB3,125,000 since the
acquisition date. The consolidated revenue
and consolidated profit for the year would
not be significantly different if the acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2008.

Acquisition of minority interests

On 1 April 2008, the Group acquired
the remaining 49% equity interest in
Binzhou Andre at a consideration of
RMB96,000,000, which has been
satisfied in cash by 31 December 2008.
The carrying amount of the remaining
49% equity interest in Binzhou Andre in
the consolidated financial statements
on the date of the acquisition was
RMB72,774,000. The Group recognised
a decrease in minority interests of
RMB72,774,000 and a decrease in share
premium of RMB23,226,000.

20 WRHEBLARRDBERRER ()

()

(b)

WREH L ()
WEAMNRE BT ERBERREMME
RO BERMBEREEINAEF LN - WiB
FIERNEERBBENEBERGETZAR
BfE FAEXAHMERNOYE  BER
REAREN L WHEEE 2 AR EERN
HM S EEQEMRM -

BB BLAR B RBRSKBARKE
3,125,000 TTE 18 - Mt BN —F T\ F
—A—H#L FARSEXBELEE R
METERERER -

WD R R ER
REZZEZNFWLA—H  AEBNUARE
96,000,000 T B WS T /M EFIF R
%ML ERRER - ZEHBEE_ZTT/)\
F+ZA=+—HABEUELIM - RIK
BATEAHUBRERTBMZEFR 2 Ftk
H49% M P BRI ERNEDSEAAR
#& 72,774,000 7T ° 2N & B A0 2 SR R A
= AR T72,774,0007T + FRF R RS IR AN 5
BAR 23,226,000 7T °
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

21 Interest in jointly controlled entities
— the Company

Unlisted at cost JELT - KA

Details of the Company’s interests in the jointly
controlled entities as at 31 December 2008 are

21 BEFBHEENERE
~%&H

2008
—ET)I\F
RMB’000
AR®TT

104,102

2007
—ETTLF
RMB’000
ARET T

54,760

R-ZEZENF+_A=1+—H ARFERERI

THRZEHERZFANAT

as follows:
Place of
incorporation Registered Paid-in
Name of company and operation Principal activities capital capital
AFER FRILHES FERE EfEs i {42
Xianyang Andre Shaanxi, PRC Manufacture and RMB RMB
Juice Co., Ltd. HEREE sale of juice 109,520,480 109,520,480
RGREFRET BHEERHE ARE ARE
BRAF 109,5204807c 109,520,480 7T
Yongji Andre Shanxi, PRC Manufacture and US$ Us$
Juice Co., Ltd. HELFEE sale of juice 12,960,000 12,960,000
KERERRHT TEERHE  12960000%7T 12,960,000%7
BRAT
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Proportion of
ownership interest
i a]
Direct Indirect
EE &
50% -
50% =



21

Interest in jointly controlled entities
— the Company (cont’d)

Summary of financial information on the jointly
controlled entities — the Group’s effective
interests:

Non-current assets EmENEE
Current assets MENEE
Current liabilities mENBE
Net assets FEE
Income WA
Expenses 2R

Profit for the year ZREFE

21

RERZHRRENRE
—F2F ()

ARAZFEBUBERBRE - AKE 2 ERE

Y

2008 2007
—BE2N\F ZEELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBTT
123,914 54,274
120,390 122,329
(117,980) (98,859)
126,324 77,744
109,518 188,389
(102,705) (163,777)
6,813 24,612
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B 3% ¥R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

22 Interest in an associate - the Group 22 MREREBATNRE-FEE
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETTT
Share of net assets JELFEE 67,232 63,196
Details of the associate as at 31 December 2008 RZZENF+A=1+—H  BERa2FE
are as follows: NN
Proportion of
Place of ownership interest
incorporation Registered Paid-in Frit B LL o
Name of company and operation Principal activities capital capital Direct Indirect
NCEA ] L8 TERE EMEF EREF EE &
Yantai Andre Pectin Shandong, PRC Manufactureand ~ US$20,000,000  US$20,000,000 - 40%
Co., Ltd. (‘Andre Pectin’) FERE sale of pectin
RaZEHREERAR FBEEREE 20,000,000 20,000,000
(IZEHNRE])
Summary of financial information on the associate AT BH & A R 2 SRR E -
is as follows:
Assets Liabilities Equity Turnover Profit
=E af BRER BA RF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TRE AR®TR AE®TR AER%®TRT AR®TT
2008 —ZENE
100 per cent 100% 290,743 (122,662) (168,081) 82,176 10,089
the Group’s SEBWER 116,297 (49,065) (67,232) 32,870 4,036
effective interest
2007 —EELEF
100 per cent 100% 252,856 (94,864) (157,992) 23,890 1,252
the Group’s SEBNER 101,142 (37,946) (63,196) 9,556 501

effective interest
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23 Goodwill - the Group

(Expressed in Renminbi Yu
(K AE&”‘%/

%”‘:

23 wE-FKH

2008 2007
ZEENE —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Cost and carrying amount: BAFRIREE :
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—HE+-A=+—8 1,452 1,452

Impairment test for the cash-generating

unit containing goodwill

The Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to
which the goodwill is allocated is Longkou Andre.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on
actual operating results and financial forecasts
less than five years. Cash flows beyond the
period covered by the financial forecasts are kept
constant which management determined to be
no higher than the long-term growth rate of the
industry. A pre-tax discount rate of 10.4 per cent
has been used in discounting the projected cash
flows.

HESHENRSEHRETNRERNR

AEESETHENRSELETARALZRE
FlJ o

ZIRSELBITA AW EERREREEER
B - ELFERATNEREEZERIRE
FHOMBRRSEMRNR S RIER - BHZMH

BRIBRERERBE B0 ET R BEERE
EZKFAERRTENRIERE - ERARE

EMETEFTMHATITIREA104 B0 °
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) _—
(UAAEBZT)

24 Income tax in the balance sheet 24 BERBRZAER
(@) Current taxation in the balance sheet @ EEEEEXRAHRECHIER :
represents:
The Group The Company
KM -3/
2008 2007 2008 2007

“®RPNE _—TTHFE C"BBN\EFE _"—TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT AR®FRT ARBTT

Provision for PRC AREEZ

income tax for FRiSHi 2R

the year 44,566 31,451 27,058 14,964
Provisional income ~ FBf A5

tax paid (15,101) (4,738) (11,676) 4,772)

29,465 26,713 15,382 10,192
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Income tax in the balance sheet
(cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated

balance sheet and the Company’s balance
sheet, and the movements during the year

are as follows:

The Group

Deferred tax
arising from:
At 1 January 2007

Recognised in
profit or loss

At 31 December 2007

At 1 January 2008

Recognised in
profit or loss

At 31 December 2008

|

|
o A
=i

+

b)) BEEHEERBEER

EREAHEEARKMAREERABR

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

24 RERARRZHAEN ()

ZEEHREE/(BBE)NBRAFEZ

FaR

F5KE

Fair value
adjustments
on property
plant and
equipment
and lease
prepayments
upon
acquisition of

Depreciation  asubsidiary

inexcessof  RIKHIKE Unrealised

depreciation AR + HiE profits on

Taxloss allowances MR * ®iiRk inventories
carry-forwards ftEmE  RitEge FEX Total

REGRKE ROMKE LREERE ERTIA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT AE%TR ARBTT AE®TR
755 (3,456) (4,329) 15,143 19,118
755 (3,456) (4,329) 15,143 19,118

BT \FEH
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24 Income tax in the balance sheet

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

(cont’d)

)

140 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Deferred tax assets and

recognised: (cont’d)

The Group

Tax loss
carry-forwards
Depreciation in
excess of
depreciation
allowances
Fair value adjustments
on property, plant
and equipment
and lease
prepayments upon
acquisition of
a subsidiary
Write-down
of inventories
Unrealised profits
on inventories

Total

24 RERARRZHAEN ()

liabilities b)) EEREENAGERER: (&)
x5E
Assets Liabilities
EiE AR\
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EBEN\E —TTLHE ZBEN\FE T LHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT AR®TRT AREFIT
IS a4
755 = - _
T ETANEREZEXAY
e
- - (3,456) -
RUEEH B A R)Rs
HYZE - HE -
REREMNES
Z AR BEPRE
- - (4,239) -
FEMKEREE
11,005 - - -
FERERMNE
15,143 = - _
&5t 26,903 — (7,785) —

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF



24 Income tax in the balance sheet 24 BEABRRZFAERGE)
(cont’d)

(o) Deferred tax assets and liabilities b) EEREERBEER: (8)
recognised: (cont’d)

The Company b 3/
Write-down of
inventories
FHREER
RMB’000
AR®TT
Deferred tax EIER
assets HERR :
arising from:
At 1 January 2007 RZEZT+LF
Recognised in RE
profit or loss Bk -
At 31 December RZZTT+F
2007 +=—HA=+—H _
At 1 January 2008 =TT )\F
Recognised in wRE
profit or loss Bk 5,130
At 31 December RZZZNF
2008 +=-—RA=

+—H 5,130
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24

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Income tax in the balance sheet (cont’d)

(©

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

As at 31 December 2008, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses in certain
subsidiaries of RMB17,982,000 (2007:
RMB222,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant subsidiaries. As at 31 December
2008, RMB6,560,000, RMB7,402,000
and RMB4,020,000 of these tax losses
will expire in 2011, 2012 and 2013,
respectively.
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24 REARRZIAFR(E)

(©

AERELEHEE :

R_ZEZENF+_A=+—H8 BARET
MBS A RN AR BE S Al A A B g8
BOR SR E R 5 ) - B 1t 7N 52 [ 1) 5K gt AR A
MEBARE—ZENFT_A=1+T—HA
ZFAR®E17,082,000t( ZEZFEF : A
R#222,0007T) 25T B EEHER A BAE
EREEE RZTTENF+ZA=+—
B Edh5RlASAREE,560,0007T @ A
R#7,402,0007T & A R #4,020,0007T B9 52
HEENERRBEIRE=Z—F - =
T _—F T =FfERHe



(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

25 Inventories 25 #®W
(@ Inventories in the balance sheet comprise: @ E‘EEEEBERIFERHE:
The Group The Company
F%E . 3|
2008 2007 2008 2007

ZBBNEFE —TTLF ZBBINE _"TTLHHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT AR®FR ARBTT

Raw materials M 45,714 46,754 10,009 13,220

Finished goods EEFRK i 856,026 1,270,376 362,669 571,141

Total A5t 901,740 1,317,130 372,678 584,361
(b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories b) GEBRRABRAZAOWMT

recognised as an expense is as follows:

The Group
xEME
2008 2007
—EENE —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER#®FT ARBFT

Carrying amount of HEFEZRETRE
inventories sold 1,019,593 1,239,521
Write-down of inventories  fF &&i{E 53,097 —
Total Bt 1,072,690 1,239,521
() As at 31 December 2008 inventories ) R=ZEZENF+-—A=+—H FERK
carried at fair value less cost to sell ANRBEREZHEKRAZ ST AARLE
amounted to RMB573,107,000 (2007: Nil) 573,107,000 T ( — T4 : #£) o

—FZ)N\EEH Annual Report 2008 143



PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

26 Trade receivables

An ageing analysis of trade receivables is as

26 FEMRESR

FEYRIR 2 BRI AHTIA T

follows:
The Group The Company
xEKHE b 3/
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEEN\FE =T F CZBEN\F —TT+F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR%Tr AR®BTRT ARET=
Within 3 months ={EANA 73,283 329,175 53,266 202,189
Over 3 months but =EAKE
less than 6 months BARAEA 3,555 284 2,581 284
Over 6 months NEA K E 7,751 167 3,958 =
Total =1 84,589 329,626 59,805 202,473

Customers are normally granted credit terms of
one to six months (2007: three to six months),
depending on the credit standing of individual
customers.

Included in trade receivables, the Group’s
balance with an associate amounted to
RMB4,153,000 (2007: Nil).

BIENEFPZEERE TP —REF M@
AZEXNERABREM(ZTZLF  ZEAAZNE

H) e

REYSRFRF - AEBREBENTRE/ARE
R

4,153,000 L (=FZF
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27 Other receivables and prepayments

27 HAhEU R IR

The Group The Company
*%E e SN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZENE i 3 k- 1= ¥ 3 e
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREFT ARBTT AREFT
Prepayments in connection BETHE
with construction work AR
and equipment purchases AR 4,595 16,004 3,671 6,211
Prepayments to suppliers TP 14,397 40,612 276 30,490
Value added tax (‘VAT’) HOHE ZIEER
refundable for export sales RiE 0) 3,146 11,375 2,000 =
Recoverable input VAT AR ER 39,050 104,228 27,370 65,293
Amount due from an associate  JEUEE &1 A (i 18,412 - 18,350 =
Advances to third parties BRTE=A (i 365 16,170 - 6,000
Others Hit 6,893 4,819 1,517 2,253
Total A 86,858 193,208 53,184 110,247

(i)

(i)

The Group’s sales are subject to VAT at the
rate of 17% but the Group is entitled to VAT
refunds of 13% in respect of export sales.

The amount was unsecured, interest free
and had no fixed terms of repayment.

As at 31 December 2008, this represent
advances of RMB365,000 (2007:
RMB515,000) to Binzhou Development
District Finance Bureau. In addition, the
balance as at 31 December 2007 also
included advances of RMB8,780,000 to
Yantai Anlin Fruit Processing Co., Ltd.,
RMB500,000 to Xuzhou Fengcheng
Finance Bureau, RMB375,000 to Longkou
Custom and RMB6,000,000 to Yantai
Lushun Food Co., Ltd.. These advances
were unsecured, interest free and had no
fixed terms of repayment.

(i)

(i)

AEEHEERBERAZHBERMRE S
17% » BER13% K H D SHERT ©

ZEREEER  EHNE - WAEREEE
EHR -

RZZETENF+_A=+—HZHREERE
TR 3 1 M BUB 8 R AR B 365,000 7T
“TTLF : ARKS15,0007T) © S -
R-BZBLF+_A=+—HB ZEEX

HREEBRETHELMREERAAME
AR 8,780,0007T, f& TR/ B

BB A R 500,000, f&F5E 0k
ERARKE 375,000 TR ETFHEEIBR R
BRARME R AR 6,000,000 ° ZEHE
SEIR - &R S - W HEETEEESR -
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

28 Dividends receivable — the Company

This represents the dividends receivable from the
Company’s subsidiaries.

29 Amounts due from and due to
subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities - the Company

Amounts due from and due to subsidiaries and

jointly controlled entities are unsecured, interest
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

30 Restricted deposits

The restricted deposits are used to secure the
letters of credit and bills payable.

31 Cash and cash equivalents

28 MEMERRE -F2F

AR AR R R A RERZ ALS, ©

20 BB EREMHELTRRERREFHERER

PR YNS

FEY K AT HT B A B R KRB R IB &K
/- ENE - LEEBEFHEEHR

30 BAREHBNER

BRGIFEFAERREREMENRE

31 BeRReERY

The Group The Company
FEH E- 3/

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE "—"TTLHE ZBEN\EFE _—TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTRE ARETT
Cash in hand He 920 733 204 151
Cash at bank IRITIER 113,194 96,864 101,437 64,120
Total =X 114,114 97,597 101,641 64,271
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32 Bank loans

(@

At 31 December 2008, the bank loans are
repayable as follows:

32 SR1T

(@

B

RZZEZNF+_A=+—Q, AlEERT
B

The Group The Company
*EME . 3/
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ETN\E —ETHF —EENEF —EEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFET ARETT AE®FTRT ARETT
Within 1 year —FUR 856,775 1,061,064 671,775 816,064
After 1 year but —FNE

within 2 years BERFLAR = 328,707 = 328,707
Total a5t 856,775 1,389,771 671,775 1,144,771

At 31 December 2008, the bank loans are b) R-ZENE+—A=+—HEERE
secured and guaranteed as follows: IRBZIRTEST
The Group The Company
F5ME /N

2008 2007 2008 2007
k-2 73 —ETLE - 273 ZETLE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT AR®TR AREFT
Secured and guaranteed BERBFETER () 221,526 313,057 126,526 333,057
Unsecured BERRTER 635,249 1,076,714 545,249 811,714
Total A&t (i 856,775 1,389,771 671,775 1,144,771
()  Asat 31 December 2008, bank loans ) RZBENF+_A=t—8 F2&

of RMB70,000,000 (2007: RMB
104,000,000), and RMB27,000,000
(2007: RMB40,000,000) of the
Company were guaranteed by a
related party and an unrelated third
party of the Group respectively.

ﬂﬁfﬁﬁ%?ﬂ/\ﬁﬁ%?ooooooo%

ZET L F: /\EM104000000
7T) M ARKE27,000,0007t( =T Z+
& AR¥40,000,0007T) 2 Bl A
SE B RAEE BB E=
TR o
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0)JIS O s
B 3% ¥R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

32 Bank loans (cont’d)

(b) At 31 December 2008, the bank loans are
secured and guaranteed as follows: (cont’d)

U

148 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RAdHZERR

(cont’d)

As at 31 December 2008, bank loans
of RMB80,000,000 (2007: Nil) of
a jointly controlled entity, Xianyang
Andre, in which the Group’s effective
interest amounted to RMB40,000,000
(2007: Nil), were guaranteed by the
Company.

As at 31 December 2008, bank loans
of RMB90,000,000 (2007: Nil) of
a jointly controlled entity, Xianyang
Andre, in which the Group’s effective
interest amounted to RMB45,000,000
(2007: Nil), were guaranteed by an
unrelated third party of the Group,
AGRANA Juice GmbH.

As at 31 December 2008, bank loans
of RMB20,000,000 (2007: Nil) of a
jointly control entity, Yongji Andre,
were guaranteed by the unrelated
third party of the Group, AGRANA
Juice GmbH.

As at 31 December 2008, bank
loans of RMB29,526,000 (2007:
RMB29,057,000) were secured by
the Company’s deposits at bank.

The balance as at 31 December
2007 included bank loans of
RMB90,000,000 and RMB50,000,000
of the Company,
guaranteed by a related party and
an unrelated third party of the Group
respectively.

which were

As at 31 December 2007, bank loans
of RMB20,000,000 of the Company
were guaranteed by a subsidiary of
the Company.

FITROERAF

32 SRITER (&)

b)) W=
BZRITEFWT : (&)

SIS ST

(#8)

R_BENEFE+-_A=+—H" &
AR HAREHERHGZENER
TER AR S80,000,0007T(—FF
+&F E) ZBERBAQ RS
ER HPAEEBEHERZARKE
40,000,000 7C (T TA4F : ) o

F_gg/\i-i—_ﬂ:—i-—ﬁ UEAUN

ARZEHERRSLENERTE
UA}\EMQO 000,000 7T ( ZZTAF :
B) ZBAEFBAKEZIFABSE
=P B R AR HEIER - EP A%
E B W s A R ¥ 45,000,000 7T (=
ZTLF | o

R-BENF+_HA=1T—B 42
AAREGERXELENGRITE
KA 20,000,0007T( =T L4F ¢
ﬁ)EElZIK%@Z?F%%%% =77 B A8 BB
RREHIER

R-ZEZNE+-_F=+—H AR
#29526,000 C( —EZ+F: AR
# 29,057,000 7T ) RITE KB AR &
ZIRITIERIEEA -

NZZZLE+-_A=+—8 " Z&
A 75 AR 90,000,000 7T AR
50,000,000 TLIRITEF * D AIBAE
B RSB IR E=
RELER -

RZEE+E+=—A=+—H  &xQ
AIBRITERARE 20,000,000 7T H
RN T)— KM B A TREIER -



32 Bank loans (cont’d)

(b) At 31 December 2008, the bank loans are
secured and guaranteed as follows: (cont’d)

(i)

As at 31 December 2008, bank
loans of RMB549,218,000 (2007:
RMB951,495,000) bore interest at
rates ranging from 5.04% to 7.47%
(2007: 6.57% to 7.83%) per annum.

The bank loans of RMB307,557,000
(2007: RMB438,276,000) bear
floating interest rate of LIBOR+1.1%.
Pursuant to the repayment terms,
US$45,000,000 will mature by June
2009. The terms for the bank loans
impose certain specific performance
covenants on Mr. Zheng Yue Wen,
who is a director of the Company,
and Mr. Wang An, who is a major
shareholder and director of the
Company. Under the relevant terms,
the bank loans will become due and
payable immediately when either:

o Mr. Wang An ceases to have or
ceases to be entitled to exercise
management over each of
the Company and its principal
subsidiaries; or

o the aggregate shareholding in
the Company that is beneficially
owned by Mr. Zheng Yue Wen
and Mr. Wang An ceases to
be larger than the aggregate
shareholding in the Company of,
and/or held to the order of, any
other person or persons acting in
concert with such other person.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

32 FERIRITER (&)

b))

“EENF+_A=T—HEERER

FEZRITERWAT : (B)

(i)

R-_EENFE+-_A=+—HRT
BRARKS549,218000t( = F
+F : AR #951,495,0007T ) © F
& E504%-747%( — BT 4F -
6.57%-7.83%) °

SRITER AR 307,557,000 (=&
T+ F: AR 438,276,0007T) FT
T2 E) B R AR BERTT B S 7R &
+1.1% © RIZ&E F A& - 45,000,000
ELBER =TT NF AR - %R
TERGR ERERRBN 2 EEE
BYGERARTNEZTRRR TR
EEBINFEZBAOEML - BIEFEZR
TEFRHZ A TSEBEERZER
BB R ERE 2 -

e FIREAASABRTBEET
EHARARETZHEA R
ZEIRIEGIRE - 3

e HEBXEARERELED
BEBHZARAZ FHRBREL T
BRaREMALTR/ SRKE
AT R/ HEZEALT R
THZALIRARBFAFALZ
FriARER o
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

33 Trade payables 33 MEfIAR®
An ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows: JERBRFBBREE D ATAA T ¢
The Group The Company
*T5KE b /NG
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE _—TTLFE ZBEN\E _—TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR®Tnr AR®BTRT ARET=T
Within 6 months NMEAAA 78,797 214,325 18,004 27,597
Over 6 months but NMEA A LB
less than 1 year DR—F 16,314 461 27 22
Over 1 year = 509 928 242 916
Total |t 95,620 215,714 18,273 28,535
All the trade payables are expected to be settled FrB N ERRTEGT R —FREE -
within one year.
Included in trade payables, the Group’s and the RIERTBRFRF - AL B AR 7] E2EE & N 78RR
Company’s balance with an associate amounted BAREE2 455000 T (ZFZHF : £) ©

to RMB2,455,000 (2007: Nil).
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34 Other payables and accrued

expenses

Accrued staff cost FERTER B AR

Amount payable for EHEEAME -
the acquisition of RS B st
property, plant and Z E5RIA
equipment

Amount payable for BN HEES
lease prepayments Z ER5RIE

Amount payable for WehE L 8r
the acquisition of e
minority interests 1 5RIE

Receipts in advance TRURER R

Other taxes payable R E A E

Advances from third parties  [A15 =7 &3
Ed

Advances from a shareholder A% & 7%

Dividends payable FERIARE
Others HAfh
Total &5t

34 HftlEEMRRFEREA

The Group The Company
F5%E FaF

2008 2007 2008 2007
i - 7183 e e S i - 185 e e oS
Note ~ RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR®FRT ARETT ARWTT AREFTT
9,326 6,098 3,868 4,266
36,374 26,179 3,885 1,999
2,099 - 2,099 -
- 13,514 - 13,378
9,761 11,234 7,252 4,188
24,565 6,630 1,468 1,114
(i) - 5,500 - 5,000
(i - 23,784 - _
- 4,007 - 4,007
27,521 30,459 8,779 11,997
109,646 127,405 27,351 45,949
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

34 Other payables and accrued
expenses (cont’d)

@

(i)

The amount represented the interest-
free and unsecured borrowings of
RMB5,000,000 from Administrative
Committee of Yantai Muping Development
Zone and RMB500,000 from Binzhou
Finance Bureau as at 31 December 2007.

The amount represented the interest-free
and unsecured borrowings from Yantai
Donghua Fruit Co., Ltd., a shareholder of
the Company.

152 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RALF ZENRTRDERL T

34 HtiEMRRERER ()

ZREER=_ETLtF+=_A=+—H8RK
e TREREEZES ZENBRE
IR E TR A R ¥ 5,000,000 7T K K & N BF R
B2 R B & R S 5 K 5 500,000
e

ZHRBRERARBBRRZ — WERER
RERBEEARIZEN S RELERK -



35 Capital and reserves

35 MR&ER R

(@) The changes in equity of the Company for
the years ended 31 December 2007 and
2008 are as follows:

At 1 January

2007
Issuance of shares
Capitalisation issue

Share issuance expenses

Profit for the year
Appropriations
Dividends to equity
shareholders
of the Company

At 31 December
2007

At1 January
2008
Profit for the year
Appropriations
Dividends to equity
shareholders
of the Company

At 31 December
2008

RIZTLE
—R-BziH
Al
BREE
¥RAZRX
AEEET
EoL
PERET
YN
e

RZETLF

TZR=t-RzEH

RZZEN\E
—A-Rz&s

AEERT

A

PERET
YN
T

RZFENE

T-A=t-Hz&%

Note
itk

351b)
31b)

35(c)

35(c)

(@ HE-_ZEZLE_ZEENFt+_A=1—
BIEFE - ANARIMEREEI T ¢

Share Capital Share Statutory Retained
capital surplus premium reserves earnings  Total equity
BA  EADE  RARE  iERE  ROEAE L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTRT ARETR ARMTR ARRBTR ARETR
180,888 10 274,816 55,662 116,788 628,164
13,000 = 135,445 - - 148,445
232,666 - (232,666) - - -
- - (7,816) - - (7,816)
= = = = 138,898 138,898
- - - 15,136 (15,136) -
- - - - (27,133 (27,133)
426,554 10 169,779 70,798 21347 880,558
426,054 10 169,779 70,798 213417 880,058
- - - - 107,387 107,387
= = = 10,505 (10,509) =
- - = - (29,859) (29,859)
426,554 10 169,779 81,308 280,440 968,086
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35 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(b)

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Share capital

Registered:

2,505,360,000 (2007: 1,138,800,000)
Domestic shares of RMB0.10 each
(2007: RMBO0.10 each)

1,760,176,000 (2007: 670,080,000)
H shares of RMB0.10 each
(2007: RMBO0.10 each)

Issued and fully paid:

2,505,360,000 (2007: 2,505,360,000)
Domestic shares of RMB0.10 each
(2007: RMBO0.10 each)

1,760,176,000 (2007: 1,760,176,000)
H shares of RMB0.10 each
(2007: RMBO0.10 each)

35 MR&ER R ()

(b) KA

B :
2,505,360,000 % (ZZZ+F :
1,138,800,000 %) &%
ARE 010 TR
(Z22+F : BRARK0107T)

1,760,176,000 ]k (Z2Z+5 :
670,080,000 ) &%
AREOAOTHHR (=SS LF
BHRARK0.107T)

ERITREE :
2,505,360,000 % (ZZZ+F :
2,505,360,000 %) A%
ARE 010 TR
(Z22+F : BRARK0107T)

1,760,176,000 (Z2Z+ 5 :
1,760,176,000 1% ) =%
AREOAOTHHR (=T LF
FRAR®E0.107T)
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2008 2007
—EI\EF TR
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETTT
250,536 113,880
176,018 67,008
426,554 180,888
250,536 250,536
176,018 176,018
426,554 426,554




35 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(b)

Share capital (cont’d)

On 16 July 2007, the Company issued
130,000,000 new H shares with a par value
of RMBO0.10 each, at a price of HK$1.18
per H share by placing.

On 19 November 2007, an amount of
RMB232,665,600 standing to the credit of
the share premium account was applied
in paying up in full 960,096,000 H shares
and 1,366,560,000 Domestic shares
of RMB0.10 each which were allotted
and distributed as fully paid to existing
shareholders in the proportion of six
capitalisation shares for every five existing
shares then held.

All the shares issued by the Company rank
pari passu.

35 MR&ER R ()

(b)

LENE )

RZFTELFLATAE ARFMNE
ETRNRBHBBE K118 2 BB IEH
130,000,000 i & A EfE A K#0.10 T2 H
B o

RZZEZT+EF+—ATNAB - REREE
B 2 AR 232,665,600 7T 2 AR &2
960,096,000 ix & AL B1TH B IR EE A
R#0.10 T2 H % & 1,366,560,000 f% & 7
LBTHERMEARE010ITZIERB
R BRREEFRAREREHTZIRMEK
ANREARMEBFITHFREE BITIE DK
ZHRERR -

ARRRTLIERBEEE RS -
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(c) Statutory reserves

At 1 January
2007
Appropriations

At 31 December
2007

At 1 January
2008
Appropriations

At 31 December
2008

RoFBNE
+-A=f+-H

35 MR&ER R ()

() ZERRE
The Group
r5H
The Company The subsidiaries Total
N HEAR Bt
Statutory Statutory Enterprise
surplus surplus Reserve expansion
reserve Total reserve fund fund
EE EE ¥
N E &t Nk mEES BRES
(i (i) (ii (i)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR%TR AR%TR
55,662 55,662 - 13,966 13,966 83,694
15,136 15,136 1,596 3,356 3,356 23,444
70,798 70,798 1,596 17,322 17,322 107,038
70,798 70,798 1,596 17,322 17,322 107,038
10,506 10,505 112 2,565 2,565 16,747
81,303 81,303 1,708 19,887 19,887 122,785
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35 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(c) Statutory reserves (cont’d)

M

(i

Pursuant to the Company’s and a
subsidiary’s Articles of Association,
the Company and the subsidiary
are required to transfer 10% of their
profits for the year, as determined
in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards, to statutory
surplus reserve. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before
distributing dividends to shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserve can
be used to make up for prior years’
losses, if any. It may be converted
into share capital by issuing new
shares to shareholders proportionate
to their existing shareholdings,
provided that the balance after such
issue is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association
of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC, the subsidiaries are required to
transfer certain percentages of their
profits for the year, as determined
in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards to the reserve
fund and enterprise expansion fund
respectively. The percentage of this
appropriation was decided by the
directors of the subsidiaries.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

35 MR&ER R ()
() EERE R

U)

(i)

BRARRIR—KTFARIERMM
T ARBRRERTFARARTEE
FPERIFTE R F AR 10% REUATE
REE - RIVEE RABEAERAR
DECAS RTAETT ©

EEAEE A BIERENEFERR
(A) - WA B RIRIRE AR
RLLERITHRMB]RARA - R
BITRM R Z EHRTE DR EMARA
25% °

REARBDEFREARLIZMHBR
AINERRTE @ ZEHERRARSE
BRTPEEFEAGENE FFEMNE
W—ELPIRBRFEEES REEER
HE o ZABLLHIRAZFHIE QR
ZEEEREN
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

35 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(c)

Statutory reserves (cont’d)

(i

(cont’d)

The reserve fund can be used for the
subsidiaries” working capital purposes
and to make up for previous years’
losses, if any. This fund can also be
used to increase the capital of the
subsidiaries, if approved. This fund
is non-distributable other than upon
liquidation. Transfers to this fund
must be made before distributing
dividends to the Company.

The enterprise expansion fund can
be used for the subsidiaries’ business
development purposes and for
working capital purposes. This fund
can also be used to increase the
capital of the subsidiaries, if approved.
This fund is non-distributable other
than upon liquidation. Transfers
to this fund must be made before
distributing dividends to the
Company.
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35 MR&ER R ()

(c)

EERE ()

(i)

(&)

REEE A RIEZEHBARMTE
LEL BN WA BAAEFEEE
B(A) o WIEES IR BIEE %
EMBARZEARE (WEHE) - B
RBRESN - IIRES T A AERS
DK © AR BVERDIKBE T IR AT
HERFIRFREFEERES

CERERESATRAEZSHBARR
BERRRMBTELES ZHMN ° 1A
EeMABEENZENBRRZE
A (AEHAE) » BRIOBEEFIN - 1t
HEES NI RERENIK - AAFA
PR3 KA B T BCR A 75 B SRR 8
EEEBRES -



35 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(d)

Distributable reserves

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of
Association, the Company’s retained
earnings available for the purpose of
profit distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company wil be the lesser of
(i) the retained earnings determined in
accordance with the China’s Accounting
Standards; or (i) the retained earnings
determined in accordance with IFRSs.

Under the Company Law of the PRC and
the Company’s Articles of Association, net
profit can be distributed as dividends after
allowance has been made for:

(i) making up cumulative previous years’
losses, if any;

(i)  allocations of 10% net profit for the
year, as determined in accordance
with the China’s Accounting Standards,
to the Company’s statutory surplus
reserve; and

@iy allocations to the discretionary
surplus reserve, if approved by the
shareholders.

At 31 December 2008, the Company’s
distributable reserve amounted to
RMB280,440,000 (2007: RMB213,417,000),
being the amount determined in accordance
with IFRSs.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

35 MR&ER R ()

(d)

A 2k EE

REARBRRANER - ARASFED
EmAHIETARARR 2R EHNE
ATIERIEE () RRPEGHLEAFEZR
DEHE k(i) RRERP SRS ERIFE
ZARDBEAE

REBFERBDERARBZER  FHHE
AXNTIIERR AHERRENIK -

0 WEUAFEERAER(WA)

(i) WERPESITEAGFENFFEZ
10% RBARR ZEERTER &

(i) (WESREAZIE  RREZRRZH

R-ZEZENEFE+_A=1+—8  A2Q7F
ARRTARBIREZFEESEAAR
#280,440,000 (=TT L F: AR
213,417,0007T ) * It & 58 ) & AR B0 % B 75
HEERFTH o
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

35 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(e)

160 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can fund its production
and development, and continue to provide
returns for shareholders by pricing products
commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews
and manages its capital structure to
maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions.
Consistent with industry practice, the
Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of a gearing ratio, as defined by the
Group, being the total liabilities divided by
the total assets. At 31 December 2008,
the gearing ratio of the Group was 49.25%
(2007: 61.68%).

Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital
December 2008.

requirements at 31

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF

35 MR&ER R ()

(e)

EXEE

AEEEEEANTIRZENERHEARE
R ERE S - WM E RS ERIRA
BRAKFREMETEENTEE - KLBE
NEEMKARGRE  IAXFAKHE
WAERER - I AEBRIRRIZHEIR -

AEEREELREREZMEREEAR
B URRIFSESS/KFEFTEEENE
= R B - B2 ] 5 9 B AN JE AL P 2R Y
BELR L2 2HNFE  WEFREARR
BARHEERIZNE -

BITEMNERME B AEBRUEASE
BAATHEEABLRAEREEHE
REHE - ZULRANEBEZ AEHRAERIA
EERE - R_TETZN\F+=ZA=+—
B AEENEERBLERARI0.25%(=F
T4 1 61.68%) °

RZZEZENFT_A=+—BARAIKHE
EARTPH B & ) I 48 52 1l A ] 5156 B A0 49
BAREH -



36 Related party disclosures

In addition to the transactions and balances

disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,

the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions.

(a)

(b)

Transactions with the associate and
the jointly controlled entities

Sales to the jointly SHE TR
controlled entities = ERE
Purchases from the jointly A B H£[R
controlled entities | E e
Sales to the associate SHES THE =

Purchases from the associate

Key management personnel
remuneration

Remuneration for key management
personnel, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors and supervisors
as disclosed in Note 12 and the senior
management as disclosed in Note 13, is as
follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Retirement scheme contributions

Total A&t

RE g

B B B
RIRBFIFT IR

(Expressed in Renminbi#uag .
(UARBIT)

36 MBGEE

RN R EM IO RE 2 X S MRS - &
SEANTEREB TR S

(a)

=]

5
=

(b)

HEBENRARAREHER IR S

2008 2007

“EBINF e

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

8,846 4,793

74,014 84,458

5,257 3,533

2,098 -
TEEEASHH

TREEBEASHM(BEINTHE12KE
ZARREEREEMMT1IBREZER
EEEZEB)MNT

2008 2007
—2E2N\F “ETERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBTT
1,924 1,868

11 28

2,035 1,896
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NOTE O s
B 3% ¥R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

37 Financial risk management and fair

values

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s financial
assets included cash and cash equivalents,
restricted deposits, trade receivables and other
receivables. At the same date, the Group’s
financial liabilities included bank loans, trade
payables and other payables. The Group did not
hold nor has it issued financial instruments for
trading purposes as at and for the year ended 31
December 2008.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of
the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade receivables.
Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as
pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customers operates. Trade
receivables are due within one to six
months from the date of billing. Debtors
with balances past due are requested to
settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted.

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF

37 MERBREERAARE

REZZFZENF+ZA=+—H8 rEBZERE
EREREREEEEY BRHGFNR - EUKER
FREMENR - B— B8 AEEZSHBARE
BREBRITER  BARFREMENTK - &2
TENF+ A=+ BERAFERAEETE
BARBRTEMIAHEERS

AEBELEEEBBETAZEE  RPES
MEMEHRER - AEBEAZHNER - REEOE
BRI R ERBERAMEENAT

(@ FERRE
REBWEERREERBERER -
BEEHEHEENEERR @ A TEE
RELEERBRAM A o

SLEMWERARIME - A ERMBBRE —H
BNRFIESHRIRZFENEPHFERE
A EENE -  BUFGEERNTFPUE
T 2 BB #) 3B SRAC %A B AT BV A& TR BE
ZREFPHREEENEPELEMBHNE
BRI - RYSRFEL ARERE 2N
BEAZIH - BRERNEBASHEERE
BEMBEREESRE T NESE—F
EEREE -




37 Financial risk management and fair
values (cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2008, 86.6% of the
total trade receivables were due within
three months (2007: 99.8%).

As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s
most significant customer, an exclusive
distributor for sales to the United States
of America and Canada, and another
four largest customers accounted for
58% of the total carrying amount of trade
receivables (2007: 70%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount
of trade receivables in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in
Note 26.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the
Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the Company’s board of
directors when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

37. MERREERLAMREGE)

(@

(b)

=EmgE (%)
RZZTENFF+-A=+—H ' 86.6%ME
WERFRBENAR=EAAESM(ZF
Z+499.8%) °

RZZZEN\F+-_A=1+—H EKEX
RESETMNS8% KRANRAEBZANE
F E—XERNMERBRDHEE @ UK
HitpEAZAZEFP(ZTZHF : 70%) °

FERRBOLLRAGHEERBERTE
WEBR KR E 2 7R ©

B2 A A KB N EEIRRNEE R R
OMESCHEMTE26 HE -

AEEANESNKEEBTREAGNT
EE  BERESEEFNENEFRES
Ko (MREFFEBRLBEREELR
BRSRARREZTENMEZ) - NEEH
HREEHMESRPESHTR  URESD
NEBEFABNRTE - ARERERTTHH
Refe FRESTIESRBBEAGE
HEHNERES CREEATNRKH
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(UARRZT)

37 Financial risk management and fair

values (cont’d)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

37. MERREERLAMREGE)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) (b) REESES(F)
The following table details the remaining TREY TAEBMARANETREER
contractual maturities at the balance sheet HEHUEHORUERER SR (BFRRE
date of the Group’s and the Company’s R EL (B EBAER) £ E BRRITF
financial liabilities, which are based on REFENF BT MAEERANRF A B
contractual undiscounted cash flows SENRN T HBAAENEIRE L H
(including interest payments computed (=
using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the balance sheet date)
and the earliest date the Group and the
Company can be required to pay.
The Group AEKH
2008
“BE\F
Morethan  More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years contractual sheet
year or on but less than but less than undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—F —F mE &% BER
MBE & #@E HHRES RER
BB AER EFER g ¢4 1] ERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TR
Bank loans RITER 870,751 - - 870,751 856,775
Trade payables EIRR 95,620 - - 95,620 95,620
Other payables and Hb R
accrued expenses REREAR 109,646 - - 109,646 109,646
Total At 1,076,017 - - 1076017 1,062,041
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37 Financial risk management and fair

values (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Bank loans

Trade payables

Other payables and
accrued expenses

Total

The Company

Bank loans

Trade payables

Other payables and
accrued expenses

Amounts due to
subsidiaries

Amounts due to jointly
controlled entities

Total

RITE

FERIRR

Hit R
RERER

BITER
FEfHiRAR
AR
RBRER
BT

AR

5
BHER

37. MBRARERRAARE(E)
(b) REBESER ()
2007
e o3
More than More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2 years contractual sheet
yearoron butlessthan  butlessthan undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—f —f R BHR BER
W ®E & HRRE BERE
Y bl MER 1ER mERE HEE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
1,123,931 337,608 — 1,461,539 1,389,771
215,714 - - 215,714 215,714
127,405 - - 127,405 127,405
1,467,050 337,608 - 1,804,658 1,732,890
ERTE
2008
273
More than More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years contractual sheet
year or on but less than but less than undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—¥ —F WE 1k HER
mEE #18 #18 ELEES REE
BB AER AER o 0.1 ERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TRE
683,510 - - 683,510 671,775
18,273 - - 18,273 18,273
27,351 - - 27,351 27,351
172,683 - - 172,683 172,683
14,013 - - 14,013 14,013
915,830 - - 915,830 904,095
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

37 Financial risk management and fair 37.

values (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

RERBREERLAMREGE)

(b) REBEZER ()

2007
e 3
More than More than Total Balance
Within 1 1 year 2years  contractual sheet
yearoron butlessthan  butlessthan undiscounted carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
—f —& ME BHIR BESR
N &E &R HERSE ERE
R MR RER mE T HEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Bank loans RITER 871,783 337,608 - 1,209,391 1,144,771
Trade payables IR 28,535 = = 28,535 28,535
Other payables and HAi IR
accrued expenses LERER 45,949 - - 45,949 45,949
Amounts due to BB AT
subsidiaries 214,600 - - 214,600 214,600
Amounts due to jointly & £
controlled entities EHIER 104,222 - - 104,222 104,222
Total At 1,265,089 337,608 - 1,602,697 1,538,077
(c) Interest rate risk () F=mEB&

Bank balances, restricted deposits and
bank loans are the major types of the
Group’s financial instruments subject to
interest rate risk. The Group does not
anticipate significant impact to bank
balances and the restricted deposits
because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

166 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 1R&t7H ZEFIRTRMDERD T

RITHER - BRHGFAMBITEREAE
EEEMNEEARNEESRRTAER - &
RIEHMRITERF XIS HREANES)
BN 5 B TR HA N R L A & IR 1T 17 ARUA
RBRFIEFEREATE



37 Financial risk management and fair
values (cont’d)

(c)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank loans. Bank loans at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
interest rate and terms of repayment of the
Group’s and the Company’s borrowings
are disclosed in Note 32.

As at 31 December 2008,
that a general increase/decrease of 50
basis points in bank borrowing interest
rates for bank loans, with all other variables

it is estimated

held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s profit for the year
by approximately RMB2,547,000 (2007:

RMB3,777,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2007.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yu
(K AE&”‘%/

%”‘:

37. MERREERLAMREGE)

(c)

M=mE bk ()
AEBABONRERKERITER © £
ﬁ??@)ﬂm%mfﬂlmﬂtﬁ 7N SE ]
)DJJ7¥K WERAERRRA R EBERNE
B o REEMA R A F R KRR R
?IEE%E’SE%#SZ o

RZZZENF+=—A=+—8 " @FtET
BREF LR A TR0 EEED -
MRFBEEMEESRFTIE - FEAFEF
R8s AR 2,547,000t (=
TG ARMG,777,0007T) ©

_I:L@(WF PMHNEECRRMNEESHE
BEHAERELE YHEREZBHERE
E’J?«Fmi%rﬁﬁlﬂﬂ’ﬁﬂiﬂ B0 £ o &
DITRAE T FHRMEEETT o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

37 Financial risk management and fair
values (cont’d)

(d)

Foreign currency risk

(i)

168 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Forecast transactions

RMB is not freely convertible into
foreign currencies. All foreign
exchange transactions involving
RMB must take place through PBOC
or other institutions authorised to
buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for the foreign
exchange transactions are the rates
of exchange quoted by the PBOC
that would be subject to a managed
float against an unspecified basket of
currencies.

The Group is exposed to currency
risk primarily through borrowings
and sales which give rise to bank
loans, trade receivables and cash
balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions
relate. The currency giving rise to this
risk is primarily United State dollars
(“USS$).

The Group did not hedge its foreign
currency exposure other than
by retaining
denominated earnings and receipts

its foreign currency

to the extent permitted by the State
Administration of Foreign Exchange.

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF

37. MERREERLAMREGE)

(d)

SN LB

()

XA

HRARE AR Bl LR RN - P
BERARENINER H WA BBT
B ARBRTT R EAMEERBEBETI
EEE - SNEXHRANERSF
BARRITHAAMAER - ZE R
EXIFFEERETHARSIFHE
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37 Financial risk management and fair
values (cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk (cont’d) (d) HhesmBs ()
(i) Exposure to foreign currency risk (i) SNER fRE O

The following table details the
Group’s and the Company’s
exposure at the balance sheet date to
significant currency risk:

TREINTAEEMARRREER
PSR ERERRERMA

The Group The Company
*KE E4H
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZTN\E e 3 -7 %3 ZETLE
US$’000 US$'000 US$°000 US$'000
LT Entn by EnFT
Trade receivables FEUUIR TR 10,206 29,494 7,831 21,726
Cash and Rekie
cash equivalents ZEY 762 470 203 240
Bank loans BITER (65,000) (98,852) (65,000) (98,852)
Trade payables FERIRFR (579) (2,014) (279) (725)
Other payable and HAREMATR
accured expenses BRRER (106) = (100) =
Overall net exposure INERBR
o {mpe] (54,717) (70,902) (57,345) (77,611)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

37 Financial risk management and fair
values (cont’d)

(d

(i)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

A 5% strengthening/weakening of
RMB against US$ as at the respective
balance sheet dates would increase/
(decrease) profit for the year by the
amount shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables,

37. MERREERLAMREGE)

(d)

(i)

S Lk ()

EREEREEER  RARKEHE
TTHE B E5% - BIZARF R A
FEMORD) TRAATREHE - &5
AT ERHRREMAEEMEE (5

in particular interest rates, remain
constant.
The Group The Company
*TRE b /N
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE —ZTTLF ZEBEEN\NFE —TT+HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TE ARETRT ABRBTRE ARET
Profit for the year: REHEF
5% strengthening ARE
in RVB F1E 5% 14,024 19,681 14,697 21,543
5% weakening AR
in RMB §2{B5% (14,024) (19,681) (14,697) (21,543)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that
the change in the exchange rate had
been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk at the balance
sheet date. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2007.
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37 Financial risk management and fair
values (cont’d)

(e)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of significant financial
liabilities approximate their
respective fair values as at 31 December
2008 and 2007.

assets and

() Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
deposits, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables (current
portion)

The carrying amounts approximate
their fair values because of the short
maturities of these items.

(i) Bank loans
The carrying amounts of bank loans
approximate their fair values based on
the borrowing rates currently available
for bank loans with similar terms and
maturities.

37. MERREERLAMREGE)

(e)

DAREE
R-BENFR_BRLF+_H=1—
B BAERAENEBZRASENR
HAfEE-

() HERELFEY  BRHEL  E
YRR B A EWHK - JENTIRA KR
1N K (—FAZIREE )
ENNEFTAZIMARY -
EEBHORERAEE -

ESJds

(i)  RiTE
RITHEER GRS RBIH A ZRTT
ERAEBKE  ROTEFZIREAS
BREARER-
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39

PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

Commitments

As at 31 December 2008, the Group and the
Company had capital commitments in respect of
property, plant and equipment not provided for in
the financial statements as follows:

Contracted for BE&4

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2008, the Company has
issued guarantees to banks in respect of banking
facilities granted to its subsidiaries and a jointly
controlled entity. The directors do not consider
it probable that a claim will be made against
the Company under any of the guarantees. The
maximum liability of the Company at the balance
sheet date under the guarantees issued is the
facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries and the
joint controlled entity of RMB170,000,000 (2007:
RMB198,000,000).

38. X*&iE
RZZFZENF+TZA=1T—8  KTEBEKEREAFA
HEBEWE  BERZEMAREMBERZEED
BARFEENT
The Group The Company
E-3- | ENFH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ETNE ZETAF —EENFE —ETTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETET ARETT AER®BTRT AREBTT
3,968 15,476 849 1,612
39. NBFHER
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R-ZEENF+-_A=+—8  AQXAAEH
BAr RERZESEEORITERIRMEER -
EEERAARARMBITIELENABERET
SEYRE MERARRKEREHEENIRITE
HKAREA70,000,000 T( ZFEZTLF : ARE
198,000,000 7T) AAARREBE R ER B ARTT
ERBEROESAERE -



40 Accounting estimates and judgements

(a)

(b)

Impairment for bad and doubtful debts
The Group estimated impairment losses
for bad and doubtful debts resulting
from the inability of the customers to
make the required payments. The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the
accounts receivable balance, customer
credit-worthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of the
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-
offs would be higher than estimated.

Impairment for non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the net book
value of a non-current asset may not be
recoverable, the asset may be considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may
be recognised in accordance with IAS
36 “Impairment of Assets”. The carrying
amounts of non-current assets are reviewed
periodically in order to assess whether the
recoverable amounts have declined below the
carrying amounts. These assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the
greater of the net selling price and the value in
use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling
price because quoted market prices for the
Group’s assets are not readily available. In
determining the value in use, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted
to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sale
volume, selling price and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is
a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and
projections of sale volume, selling price and
amount of operating costs.

Notes to the Financial Statements |
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MBBEME |

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(MAE&””%/MT_)_F_;_

40. EaH&st R FIER

(a)

(b)

RIFRBER K

AE BB E P A M PR R E A
R E R R R ERBEEE - AREN
FEMBR R B Bt ~ P RO B AR 2P
ABEERERMTNER - MRZEFR
FPRIFBIRAEL  BEEPEBESES
ISEEIEZE R

FRBEENRERE
WEBRABRIEREEENREFE L
EXNE - EREERERAERE]
WA RIBC BB @ et ERIDE 365 [ BE
E | HERR(ERTE - JERBEEMNREE
SWREHFE - AEE AT REHBEEET
BKERRNKEE - EFHIREZPBR
BEMKREEMNREZKOE  BAREE
BEeETRENR - MRERTHRIR -
REEESHERNKLEE - AT REER K
REBEEREEMETNRTETE -
MR AEEHENEFEENRRTIE
SRR G EE - EREERER
B ZEEMELNARESRESR
EHRE AMBEHHEER  EENL
BRAEZELERAIML - NEBEEREE
A ESBERINSESERERABAE
A ERNER - BRRESEMA
X RBRAEL G MEER - 68
RARE KA TEA o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

40 Accounting estimates and judgements
(cont’d)

(c) Write-down of inventories
If the costs of inventories fall below their
net realisable values, a write-down loss of
inventories is recognised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale. The Group based the estimates
on all available information, including the
current market prices of the finished goods
and raw materials, and historical operating
costs. If the actual selling prices were to be
lower or the costs of completion and other
distribution costs were to be higher than
estimated, the actual write-down loss of
inventories could be higher than estimated.

41 Possible impacts of amendments,
new standards and interpretations
issue but not yet effective for the
annual accounting period ended 31
December 2008

Up to the date of issue of these financial
statements, the IASB has issued the following
amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the accounting year
ended 31 December 2008:

IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes

BIRRM B RS RABEASTE 135 — T EHEtE

IFRS 8, Operating Segments
B RS E SERI S 8 5% — I E 5 B

Revised IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

IIERTRIRR & 5T 2ERISE 1 5% — A S SRR 951 3R
Revised IAS 23, Borrowing Costs
KIEATEIR et AR 23 5 — R B
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40. EEHEEH R FIER (18)

) FERE
WMEERNMEREAZR%E - REBR
FEEWHER - AR FEEAETERB
BHRNGEEERETKEERHEENS
EFT AR B Z 28 - ARBERER
BRIBEHN  BEKEREME BT
BERAMAEEERAIEG(E - MNERRH
EEER KR EEKAMEMIHEE M
SRMEE - BERRESEREESNGEE

4. RFERREBRE_SZ/I\FE+-A
E+—HIEFEENAERT - HENM
BRETRERHTE

BEAMBHRRAMA - BRSHENEZES
R A TRIERT RANET B RHERI R 288 - %
BRERBE_TTN\F+_A=1T—"HNEFF
B RARER :

Effective for accounting
period beginning on or after
B THESZ #

Bt Ry & AR A 3

1 July 2008
20087 A1H
1 January 2009
200941 A1 H
1 January 2009
2009F 1A 1H
1 January 2009
20091 A1H



41

Possible impacts of amendments, 41.
new standards and interpretations

issue but not yet effective for the

annual accounting period ended 31
December 2008 (cont’d)

Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment
— Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

BB B R i 5 HE RIS 2 5% (183T) — PARRIY RERE Y S -F
— BB R AEUH

Revised IFRS 3, Business Combination

RERTBIRR I 15 3R 5 2R R 58 3 5% — 15 A 6

Revised IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
KIS RTBIRR & 5T RIS 27 5% — & (F B BT S TRk
Amendments to IAS 39, Financial Instruments

— Recognition and Measurement: Eligible Hedged Items

RERTERIFE 3958 (1E7]) — R T A
—HERMETE  ARHEIHIRA

IFRIC 17, Distributions of non-cash assets to owners
BRI R AR B A E EA7 5 — R e AL POER e B E
IFRIC 18, Transfers of assets from customers

BRI G HREENRELAEE 18— KA TP EENEZR

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

RGERNKREBE_STIN\E+_A
E+—BHILFEENMEET - HENM
REVRTRHEER)

Effective for accounting
period beginning on or after
B TRFESZ #
FAtAY B R RAR &2

1 January 2009

200941 H1H

Applied to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning

on or after 1 July 2009

EARYEE B

1E20094F 7 A1 B AR E
B EwE RN BHESE O

1 July 2009

20097 H1H

1 July 2009

20097 A1H

1 July 2009

20097 A1 H

Applies to transfers of

assets from customers received
on or after 1 July 2009
BAR20090F7 A1 R
RAERBEFEENEE

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and new
interpretations is expected to be in the period
of initial application and has so far concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Group’s results of

operations and financial position.

AEB AR EELER] - R REE
RERREIENEFEE - BB R AL - AKENE
15 BRVELER] » 3TERIFIFT R BE AR ER
RERBENPTBORREZ T EBREATE -
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